
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Planning Committee

Members of the Planning Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend 
a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on 
Wednesday, 27 October 2021 at 7.00 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is 
proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 
To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories:

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question;

An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 
question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public;

A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency.



4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Committee 

a) 20210791 - 6 Sheppy Place, Gravesend, Kent, DA12 1BT (Pages 11 - 20) 

Construction of a side wall between no. 6 and no. 5 Sheppy Place. 

b) 20211037 - 55 Rochester Road, Gravesend, Kent (Pages 21 - 44) 

Relocation of 5no. car parking spaces and proposal of 2no. single 
storey dwellings and 3no. additional car parking spaces with 
ancillary works

c) 20210453 - Former Cinema Site, 11 King Street, Gravesend, Kent, 
DA12 2EB

(Pages 45 - 
106) 

Repair, restoration, extension and repurposing of 11-12 King Street 
to provide a residents' workhub at ground floor level and 6 flats 
above along with the construction of a new building to the rear 
standing between part 6 and part 9 storeys to contain 47 flats 
together with car and cycle parking, refuse and recycling storage 
and private and communal amenity spaces.

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Planning & Development) 

A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: - http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

None. 

http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ
http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ


Members

Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Samir Jassal
Bob Lane
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice

Substitutes: To be notified



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning Committee

Wednesday, 29 September 2021 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis 
Gary Harding 
Samir Jassal 
Bob Lane 
Elizabeth Mulheran
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Tony Rice

Laura Caiels Principal Lawyer - Place Team 
Shazad Ghani Service Manager (Planning)
Faye Hobbs Team Leader (Development Management)     
  Ben Clarke Committee Services Officer (Minutes) 
Julie Francis-Beard Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

23. Apologies for absence 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Emma Morley and Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox 
attended as her substitute.

24. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 1 September 
2021 were agreed and signed by the Chair.

25. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Craske declared an interest in Item 5A – 20210791 6 Sheppy Place, Gravesend Kent as 
the person living next door to this application was a close friend. Cllr Craske agreed to leave 
the meeting for the duration of the item. 

Cllr Brian Sangha made a voluntary announcement of an other interest in relation to 
application reference 20210791 as he was a Ward Councillor for Pelham. He advised that he 
had no previous involvement in the application and there had been no pre-determination on 
this matter.

26. Planning applications for determination by the Committee 

26.1 20210791 - 6 Sheppy Place, Gravesend DA12 1BT 

The Vice-Chair left the meeting for the duration of this item.

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 29.09.2021

2

The Committee considered application reference 20210791 in relation to land at 6 Sheppy 
Place, Gravesend DA12 1BT.  The application was for the construction of a side wall 
between no.6 and no.5 Sheppey Place.   

The Team Leader (Development Management) introduced application 5a to the Committee 
and highlighted key points from the report. 

The Committee were informed that the recommendation from Planning Officers was for 
Members to approve the application with conditions as the proposed wall, subject to a 
condition relating to the use of materials, was considered to preserve the appearance and 
character of the Conservation Area and therefore accorded with Policies CS19 and CS20 of 
the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014, saved Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan 1994 and Section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.

In response to Members questions on the clarification of the application, the Team Leader 
(Development Management) explained that:

 Planning Officers did not have the measurement of the wall from the property side of 
number 5 Sheppy Place; the measurement shown was from the property side of 
number 6 Sheppy Place. There was not a significant drop between the two properties

 The homeowner could erect a two-metre fence without planning permission under 
permitted development rights which was 20cm higher than the proposed 1.8 metre 
wall in the application behind the front wall of the property.

 The proposed wall would be built fully within the red line boundary of number 6 
Sheppy Place which was satisfactory and the existing boundary between no.s 5 and 
6 Sheppy place would be untouched. Any damage to the property at number 5 
following the building of the proposed wall would be a civil matter between the two 
property owners 

 In regards to the objections received on page 13, item 5.2 and the fact that the 
entrance would be darker, especially at night, the Team Leader (Development 
Management) explained that there was no requirement to contact Kent Police as the 
distance from the highway to the front door would not require clarification.   

 During the first submission of the application, a close boarded wooden fence was 
proposed but following officer assessment it was deemed inappropriate given the 
conservation area. Following consultation with the conservation architect, he 
recommended a suitable brick wall instead and advised of the preferred type of brick 
to be used. Once the applicant agreed to the change, the proposed wall was 
considered to have addressed concerns from neighbours, the service, and the 
conservation architect. There wasn’t a need to re-consult  on the change of material 

 Part of condition three specified that the wall had to have a plain brick edge and the 
conservation architect was specific on simple design 

 The proposed wall would be as close to the red line boundary as possible so there 
would not be a significant visual gap between the boundary lines after the hedgerow 
was removed and the wall built 

In item 5.10, page 15 the report mentioned there was a door in the side elevation of no.5 and 
this is a solid door with a fan light. The question was raised if it was a clear door, would it 
make a difference?  The Team Leader (Development Management) explained that the glass 
had limited significance due to the door serving a non habitable space (hallway) rather than a 
habitable space such as a living room of bedroom

Page 6



Planning Committee 29.09.2021

3

The Committee heard from Cllr Baljit Hayre, a Ward Councillor, who spoke on behalf of his 
fellow Ward Councillor, Jenny Wallace. 

Cllr Jenny Wallace had referred the application to this Committee due to concerns regarding 
the impact on the Conservation Area.  The original application was for a wooden fence to be 
erected but during the process concerns were raised by Officers regarding the use of 
materials and the applicant responded by proposing a wall and all materials were discussed. 
Cllr Hayre concluded his presentation advising Members that he was happy with the revised 
materials proposed and urged the Committee to consider the application in its revised format. 
Cllr Hayre also asked that conditions be added in respect of the materials used to construct 
the wall and the location of the proposed wall. 

The following points were raised during discussion on this application:

 Following a concern about the size of the wall and the fact that part of the wall is likely 
to exceed 1.8m due to the different land levels, possibly even 2.3m looking at the 
photographs, it was agreed it would be difficult to make a decision about this 
application without correct dimensions provided by the Planning Team.   The Service 
Manager (Planning) explained that all permitted development measurements were 
calculated from the ground level from no.6 and not no.5 Sheppy Place and therefore a 
fence under permitted development would always appear higher to no. 5 Sheppy 
Place.  The bottom of the conifers indicate the ground level of no.6 Sheppy Place.   

 If the height of wall was actually higher than anticipated, it could have a detrimental 
environmental impact and safety concerns which may need to be addressed.  

 The Committee discussed the proposed wall and the fact that the shrubbery and 
conifers at no.6 Sheppy Place would be removed.  There were currently no restrictions 
on planting hedgerows or height restriction. If any future issue occurred due to the 
height of the hedgerow it would be a civil matter between neighbours, resolved 
through the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 – Part 8 – High Hedges

 Options regarding the outcome of this application were discussed – to defer the 
application to look at dimensions of the height of the wall and also explore how far the 
doorway was down the alley and consider if there were any safety issues involved.  

The Chair proposed that the application be deferred until the next Planning Committee to 
determine the application and allow for additional information to be sought regarding specific 
dimensions around the distance from the highway to the doorways and the different land 
levels between no.5 and no.6 Sheppy Place.  Cllr Lane seconded that the motion; the motion 
passed with two abstentions received from Cllr Rice and Cllr Francis.  

Resolved that application 20210791 be DEFERRED by one meeting cycle to allow officers 
to gather further measurements for the proposed wall from the adjacent property and the 
dimensions of the distance from the highway to the front doors.

Note: (a) Ward Cllr Hayre addressed the Committee.

26.2 20210738 - 93 Rochester Road Gravesend Kent DA12 2HU 

The Committee welcomed back the Vice-Chair to the meeting. 

This application was withdrawn. 

Page 7



Planning Committee 29.09.2021

4

The Chair apologised to Members for the late notice received regarding the withdrawal of the 
item and asked officers to bear in mind that Members spent time reading the reports and 
performing site visits for the Planning Committee meeting. 

The Service Manager (Planning Development) apologised to the Committee and assured 
Members that they would be notified of any future withdrawal of items from Planning 
Committee agendas as soon as possible. 

26.3 20210634 - 28 Tennyson Walk, Northfleet DA11 8LR 

The Chair gave permission for Cllr Jordan Meade to speak on behalf of the Ward Councillor, 
Cllr Emma Elliot who was unable to attend.  

The Committee considered the application 20210634 in relation to 28 Tennyson Walk, 
Northfleet, DA11 8LR. The application was for the erection of a single storey rear extension 
and erection of a new two storey house attached to the side of the existing dwelling.   

The Team Leader (Development Management) introduced the application to the Committee 
and highlighted key points from the report. 

The Committee were informed that the recommendation from Planning Officers was for 
Members to refuse the application as it would be a cramped form of development, it was out 
of character with the surrounding area; insufficient amenity space remaining for the existing 
dwelling at 28 Tennyson Walk; and a lack of ecological mitigation.

The Chair thanked the officers for a detailed report. 

The Committee heard the views of a public speaker in favour of the application. Following the 
address by the public speaker, Members had their questions answered: 

 The agent responded to the Committee and informed them that pre-planning had not 
taken place and no engagement with local residents regarding the plans had been 
undertaken. 

 It was noted that the garden would not meet the minimum requirements for a four-
bedroom property as the useable garden measured approximately 92sqm and the 
recommendation was for 100sqm 

 The applicant disagreed with the measurements given by the Planning Team as their 
measurements did not include the side garden whereas the agents measurement took 
the side garden into account. It should also be noted that it was more like a three-
bedroom house as the fourth room was very small; when considered as a three 
bedroom property the garden would easily meet the requirements of 60 square metres 

The Committee heard from Cllr Jordan Meade on behalf of Cllr Emma Elliott, a Ward 
Councillor with the leave of the Chair.  

This was the 3rd attempt to develop this piece of land and if passed it would be a cramped 
void with insufficient amenity space.  There were strong oppositions to this development 
including being out of character for the local area and would cause a blind corner.  Speaking 
to local residents, many would be happy for a single storey dwelling to be erected but not a 
two-storey dwelling.  

Page 8



Planning Committee 29.09.2021

5

Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy stated that there would be no net 
loss of biodiversity and that opportunities to enhance and maintain habitats be sought.  This 
development would see the loss of a well vegetated area and no landscaping had been 
submitted.  Cllr Meade requested that that the Committee look at including conditions 
regarding those points.  

The current application regarding Policy CS19 to safeguard privacy, the first-floor bedroom 
was significantly less than the 26 meters minimum privacy distance. The windows had now 
been designed with obscure glass but Cllr Meade raised concern as to whether or not the 
windows could be opened.  

The Team Leader (Development Management) fielded questions from Members and 
explained that:

 Paragraph 6.44 of the report explained the bio-diversity issue and the service was 
satisfied that if the Committee were minded to agree to the application, then suitable 
planning conditions could be added to ensure there was no net loss of bio-diversity. 
Due to that, the loss of biodiversity did not form the reason for refusal. Adding 
conditions for biodiversity as part of soft landscaping is normal procedure if it was 
determined that it could be achieved and not excessive overdevelopment 

 If the Committee were minded to permit the application then officers could remove 
certain permitted development rights for new dwellings. The Team Leader 
(Development Management) explained certain rights such as Class A could be 
removed from Permitted Development. Subdividing bedrooms doesn’t come under the 
planning remit and therefore would not be controllable within the powers of Planning 

 Officers could restrict permitted development such as dormers in the roof space along 
with a range of other permitted development rights that could be discussed, but it 
would be considered unreasonable to remove them all. Planning Officers consulted 
with GBC’s Highways Engineer and he was satisfied that visibility would not be 
impacted from the proposed dwelling, he advised there were no road safety issues for 
parking as well. The current arrangement for rear parking would be enlarged so that a 
tandem parking arrangement would be in conjunction with the existing garage 

 In response to a question concerning other developments happening in the 
surrounding area, the Team Leader (Development Management) explained that they 
were most likely extensions whereas this was simply an extension; it was a new 
dwelling and considered differently as new dwellings require additional considerations 
compared to extensions such as adequate garden size and parking. An extension on 
the proposed site would be more acceptable than a new dwelling 

 The garden area where the proposed new dwelling would be sited is considered an 
important green space which was considered to be important in keeping the open 
character of the area    

The Chair thanked the registered speaker, Cllr Meade and the officers for the detailed report. 

The Vice Chair recommended refusal of the application with the reasons given and Cllr 
Mochrie-Cox seconded this.   

Resolved that the application be REFUSED Planning Permission (unanimous)

Note:  (a) Mr Peter Swain (Agent – in favour) addressed the Committee. 

Page 9



Planning Committee 29.09.2021

6

           (b) Cllr Jordan Meade spoke with the leave of the Chair.  

27. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the 
Director (Planning & Development) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Environment) under delegated 
powers had been published on the Council’s website.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.22 pm

Page 10



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20210791

Site Address: 6 Sheppy Place, Gravesend DA12 1BT
Application 
Description: Construction of a side wall between no. 6 and no. 5 Sheppy Place.

Applicant: Michael Wojcik

Agent: N/A

Ward: Pelham

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 16 August 2021

Decision Level: Planning Committee – Wednesday 1 September 2021

Reason for referral: Called in by Cllr Wallace due to concerns regarding the impact on 
the Conservation Area

Recommendation: Approval with conditions
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

1. The proposed wall, subject to a condition relating to the use of materials, is considered 
to preserve the appearance and character of the Conservation Area and therefore 
accords with Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
2014, Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan 1994 and Section 16 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2021.

____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT
1. Introduction

1.1. Following the presentation of the application to Planning Committee on 29 September 
2021, it was resolved that the decision be DEFFERED to enable the case officer to 
undertake measurements and photographs of the site.

1.2. The distance from the front of the property to the entrance door is approx. 5.7m, and 
the level difference between the two properties is approx. 40cm at the position of the 
front door at no. 5. 

1.3. The photographs are shown below:

Page 11 Agenda Item 5a



The tape measure shows the height of 
the proposed wall at this point (1.8m) 
in relation to the neighbours’ front 
door.

This photo shows the point at which 
the wall drops to 1.2m in height from 
1.5m.

This photo shows the height of the 
wall at this point as 1.2m in relation to 
the existing conifers.

Page 12



This photo shows the height of the 
wall at 1.5m high in relation to the 
conifers.

This photo shows the height of the 
wall at 1.8m high in relation to the 
conifers.

2. Site Description and Surroundings

2.1. The application site is a two storey, semi detached property with a low boundary wall 
with railings to the front and side.  The front and side garden is laid to paving and there 
are some conifers along the boundary with no. 5.  To the side is a wall approx. 2m in 
height with a gate leading to the rear garden.  This wall is pebble dashed and painted 
white which matches the house.  The front door is located to the side and has a canopy 
over which is a feature within the street scene.

2.2. The application site is located within the Upper Windmill Street Conservation Area.  
This is subject to an Article 4 direction that removes permitted development rights, 
including under Class 2, where development fronts a highway.  Case law is not clear 

Page 13



when it comes to the definition of ‘fronting a highway’.  Generally speaking 
development not fronting a highway would be set back by around 1m.  In this case, the 
purpose of the Article 4 direction is to protect the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area.  The proposed wall is 1.2m in height adjacent to the footpath and 
therefore requires planning permission.

Boundary between 6 and 5 Sheppy Place, Gravesend (Google Street View, September 2021)

3. Planning History

3.1. None

4. Proposal

4.1. Construction of a side wall between no. 6 and no. 5 Sheppy Place.  The applicant 
initially sought permission for a fence, however, during the course of determining the 
planning application, concerns were raised by Officers regarding the use of materials, 
and the applicant responded to these concerns by amending the proposal to a wall.  
There was also confusion about the ownership of the boundary between no. 5 and no. 
6 and so the applicant amended the plans to show the wall located adjacent to the 
boundary on the side of no. 6 (in red):

Page 14



5. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

5.1. The relevant polices for this proposal are as follows:

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014)
• CS01 – Sustainable Development
• CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development
• CS12 – Green Infrastructure
• CS19 - Design & Development Principles
• CS20 – Heritage and the Historic Environment

5.2. Paragraph 33 of the (NPPF) (2021) sets out those policies within adopted local plans 
should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five 
years, and should then be updated as necessary.  Such reviews are also a legal 
requirement as set out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) England Regulations 2012.

5.3. The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and the review found that the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) is in need of a partial review in terms of 
Policy CS02 (LPCS) due to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core 
Strategy was adopted and the need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet 
this need. Whilst saved policies from the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) generally 
conform with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), the Council will also seek 
to replace these saved policies via the emerging Local Plan.

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994)
• TC3 – Development Affecting Conservation Areas

National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
•   Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
•   Section 4 – Decision-making
•   Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
•   Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
• Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance
• Upper Windmill Street Conservation Area Character Appraisal

6. Consultations and Publicity Responses 

Consultees

Conservation Officer

6.1. The plans are acceptable providing the top of the wall has a plain brick on edge with no 
creasing tile and subject the brick sample being approved.  It is advisable to use a 
Wienerberger Smeed Dean London Stock brick.

Neighbouring properties

Page 15



6.2. The application was advertised on site, in the press and by individual letters to 11 
neighbouring properties.  Three letters of objection have been received (to the fence):

Main concerns:
- The fence is out of character in appearance and height
- The height will make the entrance to no. 5 darker, especially at night
- The fence will cause a blind spot when exiting the property

Service Manager (Planning) Comments

Principle 

6.3. The application site is located within the urban area where the principle of development 
is acceptable providing it meets the criteria of the Policies listed below.

Character, Appearance and Impact on the Conservation Area

6.4. The application site is located within the Upper Windmill Street Conservation Area.  
This is subject to an Article 4 direction that removes permitted development rights, 
including under Class 2, where development fronts a highway.  Case law is not clear 
when it comes to the definition of ‘fronting a highway’.  Generally speaking 
development not fronting a highway would be set back by around 1m.  In this case, the 
purpose of the Article 4 direction is to protect the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area.  The proposed wall is 1.2m in height adjacent to the footpath and 
therefore requires planning permission.

6.5. The application site is a two storey, semi detached property with a low boundary wall 
with railings to the front and side.  The front and side garden is laid to paving and there 
are some conifers along the boundary with no. 5.  To the side is a wall approx. 2m in 
height with a gate leading to the rear garden.  This wall is pebble dashed and painted 
white which matches the house.  The front door is located to the side and has a canopy 
over which is a feature within the street scene.

6.6. There are a mixture of materials visible in the street however most are low boundary 
walls or railings.  Opposite the site are the rear accesses of the flats and houses 
located on Windmill Street.

6 Sheppy Place, Gravesend (Google Street View, September 2021)

Page 16



6.7. The Upper Windmill Street Conservation Area Appraisal lists the site as ‘Character 
Area 3:  Zion Place, Sheppy Plane and Victoria Avenue’.  The buildings here are pairs 
of dwellings built by William wood for his workmen.  They are of a simple form; each 
house is of a single bay with a square-headed sash window at each floor and with the 
entrance concealed on the returning elevation.  They are of predominately yellow brick, 
although most have been rendered, applied as a banded rustication at ground floor 
level.  Negative features are listed to include loss of architectural features such as 
doors and windows; loss of front garden areas, boundary walls and railing to create 
vehicle parking areas (Zion Place).

6.8. The proposal relates only to the side boundary.  The existing front wall and railings will 
remain (although it is noted that these are not original).  The proposal for a brick wall to 
the side, provided it is finished in an appropriate brick which can be conditioned, on 
balance is considered to preserve the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area.  The highest part of the wall will not be visible in the wider street scene and 
would only be visible in the immediate vicinity of 6 and 5 Sheppy Place. Due to the 
proposed wall’s cascading reduction in height from 1.8, to 1.5m and finally to 1.2m at 
the front, the wall will appear more in keeping with surrounding properties.

Proposed wall, 6 Sheppy Place, Gravesend

Page 17



6.9. The proposed boundary wall therefore accords with Policies CS19 and CS20 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014, Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
1994 and Section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 which seek to 
preserve and enhance the character and appearance of Conservation Areas.

Neighbouring Amenity

6.10. The proposed wall will be located to the side of the application site starting from 
the existing side gate that provides access to the rear and extending to the front.  It will 
start from the rear at 1.8m high and drop down to 1.2m high at the front.  There is a 
door to the side of no. 5 Sheppy Place.  This appears to be a solid door with a fan light.  
This door does not provide the room behind with any outlook or significant daylight and 
therefore the proposed wall will not have a significant impact on either.

6.11. The proposed boundary wall therefore accords with Policy CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 and para. 130f of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2021) in terms of amenity.

Parking and Highways

6.12. The proposals will not result in any alterations to the parking arrangements for 
the property and therefore no objection is raised on highways grounds.  A concern was 
raised that the wall would obscure views when turning out of the front gate, however, at 
1.2m in height at this point and there being a footpath between this point and the road, 
no objections are raised.

Other Matters

Ownership

6.13. There has been a query over whether the land in question is within the 
ownership of the applicant or the neighbouring property at no. 5 Sheppy Place.   This is 
not a material planning consideration.

6.14. However, the applicant was advised of this and has altered the plans to show 
the wall within the shared boundary.  

7. Conclusions

7.1. The proposed side wall, subject to a condition relating to the use of materials, is 
considered to preserve the appearance and character of the Conservation Area and 
therefore accords with Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy 2014, Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan 1994 and Section 16 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2021.

______________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to be APPROVED Planning Permission, for the 
following reasons:

Page 18



The proposed wall, subject to a condition relating to the use of materials, is considered to 
preserve the appearance and character of the Conservation Area and therefore accords with 
Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014, Policy TC3 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan 1994 and Section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021.

CONDITIONS

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in precise accordance with the 
following schedule of approved plans and details, unless alternative details are approved 
pursuant to the conditions imposed on this decision notice:

Application form received 21 June 2021.
Proposed elevational drawing received 8 August 2021.
Proposed block plan received 21 July 2021.

Reason:  For the avoidance of any doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

3. The side wall herein approved shall be built with a plain brick on edge with no creasing tile 
and shall be constructed of Wienerberger Smeed Dean London Stock brick unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason:  To ensure that the appearance of the development is satisfactory and without 
prejudice to conditions of visual amenity in the locality, in accordance with Policies CS19 
and CS20 of the Core Strategy 2014 and Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review 1994.

INFORMATIVES

1 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT

This decision DOES NOT imply any consent which may be required under the Building Regulations 
or under any other enactment or provision.  Nor does it override any private rights which any person 
may have relating to the land affected by this decision, including the provisions of the Party Wall etc. 
Act 1996.

 2 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) 2021, the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment and 
determination of this application in a positive and creative way and, where appropriate, has worked 
pro-actively with the applicant to secure a development that is sustainable and that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the 
Development Plan for the area.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20211037

Site Address: 55 Rochester Road Gravesend Kent 

Application 
Description:

Relocation of 5no. car parking spaces and proposal of 2no. single storey 
dwellings and 3no. additional car parking spaces with ancillary works.  

Applicant: RDS Property Services Ltd

Agent: Mr Sean Payne, Sean Payne Arch Design

Ward: Riverside

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 19 October 2021 (EOT to 3 November 2021)

Publicity expiry date: 24 September 2021

Decision Level: Planning Committee – Wednesday 27 October 2021 

Reason for referral: Resubmission

Recommendation: Refusal
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

The proposal is for the construction of 2no. single storey 2-bed semi-detached dwellings 
located to the rear of the block of flats at No. 55 Rochester Road and associated parking and 
the relocation of existing parking to serve the residents of the flats at No. 55.

The recommendation is for the application to be REFUSED Planning Permission, for the following 
reasons:

1. The proposals are considered to constitute an overdevelopment of the rear garden 
which would result in a comparatively cramped form of backland development and 
would be incongruous considering the existing pattern of development and the 
character of the residential gardens which comprise the area.  It is therefore harmful to 
the character and appearance of the site and the wider locality and would contravene 
Policies CS14, CS15 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 
2014 which ensure new development will integrate well with the surrounding local area.  
At a national level the proposed development would also contravene paragraph 71 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) which states 'Local planning authorities 
should consider the case for setting out policies to resist inappropriate development of 
residential gardens, for example where development would cause harm to the local 
area'.

2. The proposal would result in a detrimental impact on the amenities of the occupiers of 
the flats at No. 55 in terms of loss of private and shared amenity space, contrary to 
Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014 and para. 130f of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2021.

Page 21 Agenda Item 5b



3. The proposal would fail to provide adequate private amenity space and would result in a 
detrimental impact on the amenities of future occupiers of the dwellings, contrary to 
Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014 and para. 130f of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2021.

4. The proposal fails to secure a contribution towards strategic mitigation measures within 
Special Protection Areas, and in the absence of this contribution or adequate 
information to inform an Appropriate Assessment, the development fails to comply with 
the requirements of the Habitat Regulations and Section 14 (specifically paragraphs 180 
and 181) of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and Policy CS12 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description and Surroundings

1.1. The application site is located to the rear of No. 55 Rochester Road within the urban 
boundary of Gravesend as designated by the Local Plan.  55 Rochester Road is a 2 
storey block of flats with dormers and rooflights built in the last 5-6 years.
 

1.2. Access to the site is via an unsurfaced surfaced unlit track way off the A226, located to 
the south side of the site and to the rear of Denton Court Road.  The track is not 
believed to be within the ownership of the applicant.  

1.3. The site is enclosed by a breeze block wall that increases in height as the land level 
changes towards the rear of the site.  

1.4. The following photographs show the unsurfaced and unlit trackway.

  

Page 22



1.5. Access to the site and existing communal parking for the residents of the flats of No. 55 
is through metal double gates that sit at an angle to the trackway.  

1.6. Opposite No. 55 to the west is St Johns Roman Catholic Primary School and to the 
south is St Mary’s Church, a Grade II listed building.

1.7. The area is characterised by a mixture of detached bungalows on spacious plots and 
two storey terraced dwellings that have long gardens with detached garages and 
outbuildings to the rear.

1.8. The site is elevated above the gardens of dwellings in Denton Court Road to the east.

Procedural Issues

1.9. The application has been determined in accordance with the above submitted 
documents/plans and Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
(2021) sets out adopting a positive and proactive approach to development proposals. 
In this case prior to this application being submitted the agent submitted a pre-
application enquiry for the Demolition of existing vacant outbuilding to the rear of 55 
Rochester Road and erect 3no. new residential flats at the rear of the site. 2no.car 
parking spaces are proposed to the front of the property with 1no. car parking space 
proposed and 5no. existing car parking spaces relocated to the rear. Shared amenity 
space has also been provided at the rear (Ref. PRE20210246).  However the current 
proposal differs from this scheme and the agent did not engage with the Local Planning 
Authority with a formal pre-application enquiry on the proposed development that is 
before us. 

1.10.As discussed further in this report there is principal objection to the proposed 
development and it would not be possible to negotiate with the applicant to overcome 
the conflict with local and national policy.

1.11.Therefore a decision issued within 8 weeks would give the applicant a formal stance 
from the Local Planning Authority on its position with this application. In this instance 
an extension of time would not be appropriate to address the above issues and there 
is a strong reality that even with an extension of time with the application the applicant 
could not overcome the fundamental conflict with local and national planning policy.

1.12.No further information is considered necessary to be submitted or clarified by the 
applicant in order for the Local Planning Authority to determine the application.

Page 23



2. Planning History

Application Ref     Description          Status          Date

20210397 Relocation of 5no. car parking 
spaces and erection of 3no. 2 
bedroom self-contained flats and 
3no. additional car parking spaces.

Refused at Planning 
Committee

19.05.2021

20201258 Erection of an additional 3 x 3 
bedroom self-contained flats, 
relocation of 5no. car parking 
spaces and creation of 3no. 
additional car parking spaces.

Refused
Appeal in Progress

04.02.2021

20190345 Application for a non-material 
amendment to planning permission 
reference no. 20150959 to allow an 
amendment to the rear-parking 
layout, retention of electric metre 
boxes, outbuilding, boundary block 
wall and metal gates.

Approval of Non-
Material Amendment

08.05.2019

20171363 Application for the approval of 
condition 9 attached to planning 
permission reference no. 20150959 
relating to details of the scheme for 
the whole site providing for the 
disposal of surface water run-off 
and incorporating sustainable 
urban drainage systems (SUDS).

Approval of Details 19.12.2017

20171018 Application for the approval of 
condition 9 attached to planning 
permission reference no. 20150959 
relating to details of soakage.

Refusal of Details 11.12.2017

20161164 Application for the approval of 
conditions 4, 5, 6 & 8 attached to 
planning permission reference no. 
20150959 relating to details of a 
construction management plan and 
construction access points, a Code 
of Construction Practice, details of 
the construction compound and 
storage of plant and equipment and 
details of wheel washing and 
chassis cleaning equipment.

Approval of Details 23.02.2017

20160584 ***REVISED DESCRIPTION***
Application for the approval of 
conditions 7 parts (a), (b) and (c) 
only, attached to planning 
permission reference number 
20150959 relating to details of 

Approval of Details 16.09.2016

Page 24



contaminated land assessment.

20160508 Application for approval of 
conditions 3, 11 and 12 attached to 
planning permission reference 
number 20150959 relating to 
details and samples of all external 
facing materials, landscaping 
scheme and external refuse 
storage.

Approval of Details 10.10.2016

20150959 Application for a minor material 
amendment to planning permission 
reference no. 20150176 demolition 
of existing dwelling and out-
buildings and erection of a block of 
4 self-contained flats, provision of 4 
parking spaces; to allow 
conversion of the roof space to 
form a two bedroom additional self-
contained flat.

Permission 11.11.2015

20150176 Demolition of existing dwelling and 
out-buildings and erection of a 
block of 4 self-contained flats, 
provision of 4 parking spaces.

Permission 29.04.2015

20140525 Application for minor-material 
amendment to planning permission 
reference number 20130335 being 
the erection of a detached two-
bedroom chalet bungalow; to 
relocate the proposed dwelling 3 
metres west to avoid line of 
existing sewer. 

Permitted 12.08.2014

20130335 Erection of a detached two-
bedroom chalet bungalow on land 
to rear of host property.

Permitted 27.06.2013

20130335 Erection of a detached two-
bedroom chalet bungalow on land 
to rear of host property.

Permitted 27.06.2013

20120820 Erection of a detached two-
bedroom bungalow in the rear 
garden.

Refused 16.11.2012

20100290 Erection of single storey two 
bedroom dwelling with rooms in the 
roof space and associated parking 
space.

Refused 28.05.2010

20081106 Erection of a detached two-
bedroom bungalow with room in 

Refused
Appeal Dismissed

02.02.2009
17.12.2009

Page 25



the roof space and laying out of 
two car parking spaces.

20080647 Erection of a detached chalet 
bungalow at the rear.

Refused 11.09.2008

3. Proposal

3.1. This current application is for the construction of a 2no. single storey semi-detached 2 
bedroom dwellings, 3no. additional car parking spaces and the relocation of 5no. car 
parking spaces to the front of the block of flats (No. 55 Rochester Road).

3.2. The proposed building would be single storey and triangular shaped, that would be set 
approximately 2.8m from the rear of No. 55.  It would have an approximate width of 
12.65m, 12.81m deep and 2.43m in height with a flat roof design.

3.3. House A would comprise of entrance hall, bathroom, open plan kitchen/dining/living 
area, 1no. double bedroom and 1no. single bedroom.  The dwelling would also benefit 
from a private garden.

3.4. House B would comprise of entrance hall, bathroom, open plan kitchen/dining/living 
area, 1no. double bedroom and 1no. single bedroom.  The dwelling would also benefit 
from a private garden.

3.5. The applicant has stated in the supporting planning application form, that the proposed 
dwellings would be affordable housing, however, upon further clarification, has advised 
that these would be private units potentially let to GBC Housing. As such, the proposal 
does not meet the criteria for affordable housing as set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework and can only be considered as private market housing.

4. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

4.1. Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014)
• CS01 – Sustainable Development
• CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development
• CS11 – Transport
• CS12 – Green Infrastructure
• CS14 – Housing Type and Size
• CS15 – Housing Density
• CS18 – Climate Change
• CS19 - Design & Development Principles

4.2. Paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) sets out those 
policies within adopted local plans should be reviewed to assess whether they need 
updating at least once every five years, and should then be updated as necessary. 
Such reviews are also a legal requirement as set out in Regulation 10A of the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) England Regulations 2012.

4.3. The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and the review found that the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) is in need of a partial review in terms of 
Policy CS02 due to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy 
was adopted and the need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need. 
Whilst saved policies from the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) generally conform with the 

Page 26



National Planning Policy Framework (2021), the Council will also seek to replace these 
saved policies via the emerging Local Plan.

4.4. Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994)
• T1 – Impact of development on the highway network
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards

4.5. National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
•           Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
•           Section 4 – Decision-making
•           Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
•           Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities 
•           Section 11 – Making effective use of land
•           Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places

4.6. Supplementary Planning Guidance
• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (2020)
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)

5. Consultations and Publicity Responses

Consultations

5.1. KCC Highways

The proposal includes parking provision that complies with Kent Residential Parking 
Standards for an edge of centre / suburban location. All of the parking spaces are 
accessed of a private access road so do not affect the public highway. Cycle parking 
provision is included which is acceptable.

INFORMATIVE: Should the development be approved by the Planning Authority, it is 
the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development is commenced, 
that all necessary highway approvals and consents where required are obtained and 
that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in order to avoid any 
enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority.

I therefore raise no objection to this application on highway grounds.

Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do 
not look like roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called 
‘highway land’. Some of this land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst 
some are owned by third party owners. Irrespective of the ownership, this land may 
have ‘highway rights’ over the topsoil. Information about how to clarify the highway 
boundary can be found at https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-
after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries

The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in 
every aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is 
therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to 
progress this aspect of the works prior to commencement on site.

5.2. KCC Heritage

The site lies immediately to the north of the medieval church and cemetery of St 
Mary’s. The site has the potential to contain below-ground archaeological remains 

Page 27



associated with the medieval and subsequent settlement at Denton and the proposed 
development has the potential to impact on any below-ground archaeological remains 
at the site. I recommend the following condition is placed on any forthcoming consent: 

 
AR5 No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors 
in title, has secured the implementation of
i. archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a Written Scheme of 

Investigation and timetable which has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority; and 

ii. following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure 
preservation in situ of important archaeological remains and/or further 
archaeological investigation and recording in accordance with a Written Scheme of 
Investigation and timetable which has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: To ensure appropriate assessment of the archaeological implications of any 
development proposals and the subsequent mitigation of adverse impacts through 
preservation in situ or by record.

5.3. GBC Housing

The proposed affordable housing would not meet the criteria we would expect and isn’t 
something that we would support.

5.4. GBC Regulatory Services (Environmental Protection

Having reviewed the application I have the following comments;

Electric Vehicle Charging Point(s)

This Service would wish to see the inclusion of suitable electric vehicle charging facilities 
at the proposed dwellings in support of the Council’s commitment to become carbon 
neutral by 2030.

Contaminated Land

The applicant shall undertake a watching brief during construction in case any 
contamination issue is encountered.  If during development any contamination is found, 
the local planning authority should be informed as soon as practical and the work shall not 
continue until written agreement is provided by the LPA as to the appropriate measures to 
be taken to resolve the matter and they are satisfied that those measures have been 
carried out.

Smoke Control

The property is located with the smoke control area and we would therefore ask for the 
following Informative to be included:

The proposed development is situated in a smoke control area.  As such, only authorised 
smokeless fuels as listed in the Smoke Control Areas (Authorised Fuels) Regulations 
1991 shall be burnt or fireplaces/appliances exempted by Smoke Control (Exempted 
Fireplaces) Orders shall be utilised.  Exempt appliances are appliances (ovens including 
pizza and tandoori ovens, wood burners and stoves) which have been exempted by 
Statutory Instruments (Orders) under the Clean Air Act 1993. These have passed tests to 

Page 28



confirm that they are capable of burning an unauthorised or inherently smoky solid fuel 
without emitting smoke. They must be fitted and used according to manufacturer’s 
instructions and they can only be used for the fuel for which they are designed.
 
When purchasing fuels and fireplaces the applicant should clarify with the vendor their 
suitability with respect to use in Smoke Control Areas. For further information, including 
confirmation that an appliance and/or fuel is suitable for use in a smoke control area, the 
applicant should contact the Council’s Regulatory Services by emailing: 
air.quality@gravesham.gov.uk

Code of Practice on Construction and Demolitions

Please apply.

GBC Highway Development Management Officer

I have no objections to the proposal, but would prefer the car parking at the front of the 
property removed due to its proximity to the public highway which could result in a vehicle 
having to wait on the road whilst another vehicle completes its manoeuvring to the 
detriment of highway safety and the free flow of traffic.   

All rear parking spaces should be wired to accommodate electric vehicle charging points 
of a minimum 7kW continuous supply, (more under surge conditions)

5.5. The application has been advertised by a site notice and individual letters to 21 
neighbouring properties, with an overall consultation expiry date of 24th September 
2021.

Neighbouring Properties

5.6. Three letters of representation have been received, objecting to the application with the 
following summarised comments:

 Entrance / Exit for vehicle access is too narrow
 Highway Safety – congested at school times
 Traffic Generation
 Inadequate parking provision
 Overdevelopment
 Emergency services could not access the properties due to narrow entrance
 Loss of Privacy
 Overlooking or sense of enclosure
 Loss of natural light
 Out of character
 Noise

6. Planning Analysis and Development Manager Comments

Background

6.1. Prior to 2015, the original site of No. 55 Rochester Road was a detached bungalow 
located to the front facing onto Rochester Road, with hard paved front garden, 
providing off road parking.  The rear garden was hard paved with 2no. detached 
outbuildings including a garage and car port.  

Page 29

mailto:air.quality@gravesham.gov.uk


55 Rochester Road - Streetview May 2014

Satellite View May 2015

6.2. Planning permission was granted in 2015 for the “demolition of existing dwelling and 
erection of two storey building to provide 4no. two bedroom self-contained flats with 
Juliet balconies at first floor on front and rear elevation; laying out of four parking 
spaces, cycle store and conversion of existing outbuilding to refuse store” (Ref. 
20150176).

6.3. Existing Streetscene (October 2021)

Page 30



6.4. Approved Block Plan (Ref. 20190345) Under Non-Material Amendment, the permission 
requires the rear of 55 Rochester Road to be implemented as a communal garden, 
garden to flat 1, with parking for the residents and stores. With the front garden 
including a bin store and a garden for flat 2. 

Prior to the current application before us, there have been two applications for the 
construction of a two storey detached building comprising of 3no. flats with associated 
parking located to the rear with additional parking provision to the rear and to the front 
of No. 55 (Refs. 20211258 and 20210397).

Page 31



6.5. Application Ref. 20211258 was refused for the following reasons;

1. The proposals are considered to constitute an overdevelopment of rear garden 
which would result in a comparatively cramped form of back land development 
which is poorly designed and would be incongruous considering the existing pattern 
of development and the character of the residential gardens which comprise the 
area.  It is therefore harmful to the character and appearance of the site and the 
wider locality and would contravene Policies CS14, CS15 and CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 which ensure new 
development will integrate well with the surrounding local area. At a national level 
the proposed development would also contravene paragraph 70 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019 which states 'Local planning authorities should 
consider the case for setting out policies to resist inappropriate development of 
residential gardens, for example where development would cause harm to the local 
area'.

2. The proposed two storey block fails to offer the space required for adequate living 
accommodation and results in poor outlook and inadequate level of natural to 
habitable areas to the detriment of the enjoyment of these dwellings contrary to 
Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014 and para. 127f of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2019.

3. The proposal would result in a detrimental impact on the amenities of the occupiers 
of the flats at No. 55 and the residents of No. 53 in terms of loss of outlook and 
overshadowing, contrary to Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014 and para. 127f 
of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

4. The proposal fails to secure a contribution towards strategic mitigation measures 
within Special Protection Areas, and in the absence of this contribution or adequate 
information to inform an Appropriate Assessment, the development fails to comply 
with the requirements of the Habitat Regulations and Section 14 (specifically 
paragraphs 175 and 176) of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 and 
Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

6.6. A revised scheme was submitted to address the previous reasons for refusal (Ref. 
20210397) and was refused at Planning Committee for the following reasons;

1. The proposals are considered to constitute an overdevelopment of the rear garden 
which would result in a comparatively cramped form of backland development and 
would be incongruous considering the existing pattern of development and the 
character of the residential gardens which comprise the area.  It is therefore harmful 
to the character and appearance of the site and the wider locality and would 
contravene Policies CS14, CS15 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy September 2014 which ensure new development will integrate well with 
the surrounding local area.  At a national level the proposed development would 
also contravene paragraph 71 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
which states 'Local planning authorities should consider the case for setting out 
policies to resist inappropriate development of residential gardens, for example 
where development would cause harm to the local area'.

2. The proposal would result in a detrimental impact on the amenities of the occupiers 
of the flats at No. 55 in terms of loss of outlook and loss of private and shared 
amenity space, contrary to Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014 and para. 127f of 
the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

Page 32



3. The proposal fails to secure a contribution towards strategic mitigation measures 
within Special Protection Areas, and in the absence of this contribution or adequate 
information to inform an Appropriate Assessment, the development fails to comply 
with the requirements of the Habitat Regulations and Section 14 (specifically 
paragraphs 180 and 181) of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and 
Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

Comparison of Current Proposal to Previous Refused Application (Ref: 20210397)

6.7. The current application seeks to address the previous reasons for refusal and the 
comments provided against the most recent pre-application enquiry (PRE20210246). It 
should be noted that an appeal against the refusal of application reference 20201258 is 
currently in progress but the Planning Inspectorate has not completed its assessment to 
date.

6.8. The main differences between the current scheme and the previous are;
 The proposal has altered from 3no. flats within a two storey block to 2no. single storey 

semi-detached dwellings;
 The building has been moved further away from No. 55 by an additional 0.22cm 

approx. from 2.58m to 2.8m;
 The overall footprint of the building has been reduced from 153.01m2 to 140.07m2; 
 The roof design has altered from hip roof with box dormer and rooflights to a flat roof;
 Additional details relating to lighting and planting have been submitted.

6.9. Proposed Block Plan for Previous Scheme (Ref: 20201258)

6.10. Proposed Block Plan for Previous Scheme (Ref: 20210397)

Page 33



6.11. Proposed Block Plan for Current Scheme

6.12. Proposed Front (South Facing) Elevation for Previous Scheme (Ref: 20201258)

6.13. Proposed Front (South Facing) Elevation for Previous Scheme (Ref: 20210397)

6.14. Proposed Front (South Facing) Elevation for Current Scheme

Page 34



Housing Need

6.15. Policy CS02 (LPCS) sets out the Borough’s objectively assessed need for housing 
over the Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that there is a need for at least 
6,170 new dwellings during the period. Evidence now available shows that the 
Council is not able to demonstrate a five-year housing supply (a 3.27 year supply 
has most recently been calculated within the statement published here), and as the 
delivery of housing was substantially below (less than 75%) that required by the 
Housing Delivery Test, the housing delivery element of Core Strategy Policy CS02 
must be regarded to be out of date, as required by the Paragraph 11(d) of the 
NPPF.  

6.16. This requires that in regard to housing development, planning permission should be 
granted unless: 
“the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.”

6.17. In the Gravesham context, the policies referred to in paragraph 11(d)(i) above are 
those set out in the NPPF(2021) at footnote 7 (rather than those in development 
plans) relating to any of the following:

 Habitats sites (and those sites listed in NPPF paragraph 180)
 Sites of Special Scientific Interest; 
 Green Belt, 
 Local Green Space, 
 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty
 Irreplaceable habitats; 
 Designated heritage assets (& other heritage assets of archaeological 

interest, see NPPF footnote 67); and 
 Areas at risk of flooding or coastal change.

6.18. In determining applications for planning permission involving housing, the Council 
will therefore apply a weighted balance in favour of granting planning permission in 
accordance with relevant case law and guidance, having regard to the acceptability 
or otherwise of the proposals when evaluated against development plan policy, the 
need to make efficient use of land (paragraph 125(c)) in context, the relative 
contribution the proposal makes towards the alleviation of any shortfall in housing 
delivery at that time and any other considerations material to the proposed 
development.

6.19. As part of this balancing exercise it should be noted that paragraphs 130 and 134 of 
the NPPF (2021) requires development to add to the overall quality of the area, be 
visually attractive, sympathetic to local character and create acceptable amenity for 
future occupiers.  

6.20. Notwithstanding the Council’s shortages in housing delivery and the consequent 
weight to be given in favour of the proposed development it is necessary to assess 
the proposals against the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and established local planning policy taken as a whole.

Principle

Page 35

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/189288/5-Year-Housing-Land-Supply-Statement-2020-2025.pdf


6.21. The application site is located within the urban area of Gravesend where the 
character of the street scene is residential in nature.  The majority of the 
surrounding properties are a mixture of detached bungalows on spacious plots and 
two storey terraced dwellings, with the exception of the flats located to the west of 
the site.  The site is located within an urban area, where the principle of residential 
development is acceptable providing it accords with the local and national policies.

Character and Appearance

6.22. The proposal is for a single storey building with a flat roof comprising of 2no. 2-bed 
semi-detached dwellings.  Whilst the flat green roof design has been proposed to 
address the visual impact of the development, flat roof properties are not a design 
feature that is supported within the Borough and is not a design feature that is 
reflected within the surrounding area.  As such the flat roof design of the proposed 
building is not in keeping with the character of the surrounding area and would be 
unacceptable and contrary to Policy CS19 (LPCS) and paragraph 130 of the NPPF 
(2021) which states that developments should add to the overall quality of the area 
and be visually attractive as a result of good architecture.

6.23. The original plot of No. 55 Rochester Road has already been developed extensively 
with the demolition of the detached bungalow and outbuildings and the erection of a 
two storey block of flats with dormers and roof lights to incorporate living 
accommodation within the roofspace, together with parking to the rear and private 
and shared amenity spaces to the front and rear for the occupants.  

6.24. This development on its own merit has introduced a different housing tenure in 
terms of flats in an area that is predominantly single residential properties and is 
also considerably larger building than the bungalow to which it replaced and the 
surrounding properties.  

6.25. The application site forms part of the planning unit for No. 55 Rochester Road, and 
under the implemented permission is the private amenity space of the residents 
occupying the flats, as such it cannot be considered to be a brownfield site. 

6.26. When looking at the original dwelling/site of No. 55 Rochester Road, it is 
considered that there has already been significantly development and the 
introduction of a further building with an approx. footprint of 140m2 and an addition 
of 2.no residential units would result in an overdevelopment of the site.

6.27. The submitted plans show the proposed building being located only approximately 
2.8m away from the rear of No. 55, 1.98m from the common side boundary with No. 
53 and would be located up to the corner of the southern boundary adjacent to the 
alleyway. 

6.28. Looking at the spatial layout of the surrounding area in terms of the properties and 
rear gardens, there is a uniformity, with properties benefiting from generous plots, 
being set back from the road and long rear gardens with ancillary outbuildings 
and/or garages.  The proposed dwellings would be out of character with the 
surrounding area and would introduce a cramped form of development.

6.29. Policy CS14 (LPCS) states that new housing development shall provide a range of 
dwelling types and sizes taking into account the existing character.  In this location 
the predominant character is single residential dwellings set within spacious plots 
with private parking and generous private gardens to the rear and not blocks of flats 

Page 36



with limited private amenity space, therefore the proposed dwellings would not 
accord with this Policy.    

6.30. Policy CS15 (LPCS) states that all new housing will be developed at a density that 
is consistent with achieving good design and does not compromise the distinctive 
character of the area in which it is situated. The proposed density, which the site as 
a whole would result in a density of 86.41 per hectare, is higher than the 
surrounding area and supports the concern that the proposals are out of character 
with the area and constitute overdevelopment.

6.31. Overall, and taking into consideration the above, the proposals are considered to 
constitute an overdevelopment of rear garden which would result in a comparatively 
cramped form of backland development and would be incongruous considering the 
existing pattern of development and the character of the residential gardens which 
comprise the area.  It is therefore harmful to the character and appearance of the 
site and the wider locality and would contravene Policies CS14, CS15 and CS19 
(LPCS) which ensure new development will integrate well with the surrounding local 
area. 

6.32. At a national level the proposed development would also contravene paragraph 71 
of the NPPF (2021) which states 'Local planning authorities should consider the 
case for setting out policies to resist inappropriate development of residential 
gardens, for example where development would cause harm to the local area'.

Residential Amenity

6.33. The NPPF (2021) states that planning decisions should aim to secure a high 
standard of amenity for all existing and future users (paragraph 130f). The impact 
on amenity is also considered with regard to the criteria within Policy CS19 (LPCS) 
states that new development should be located, designed and constructed to 
safeguard the amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants, 
and those of neighbouring properties and land.

6.34. Amenity of Future Occupiers

The current proposed scheme has altered from the previous and is now for single 
family housing and not flats.  The proposed dwellings have been assessed against 
the National Housing Standards and the Residential Layout Guidelines (2020) for 2 
bedroom single storey dwellings.

Actual 
floor area

National 
Standard

Double 
Bedrooms 
11.5sqm

Single 
Bedrooms 
7.5sqm

Living/kitchen
/diner 
25.2sqm

House A 
(2b, 3p)

61.16sqm 61sqm 12.11sqm 7.64sqm 28.38sqm

House B 
(2b, 3p)

61.54sqm 61sqm 11.58sqm 7.79sqm 26.61sqm

6.35. As can be seen from the table above the minimum gross internal floor area and 
minimum individual room sizes recommended by the National Housing Standards 
has been met by both proposed dwellings.

Page 37



6.36. In regard to the proposed gardens, House A would have a garden area of 
31.91m2 and depth from the rear wall of the house of 3.62m.  House 2 would 
have a garden area of 12.36m2 and depth from the rear wall of 2.32m.

6.37. Supplementary Planning Guidance 2 (SPG2) – Residential Layout Guidelines 
(2020) states that a 1-2 bedroom dwelling would have a minimum garden area of 
37.2m2 and minimum depth of 7.6m.

6.38. Therefore, in terms of garden size and depth, both dwellings would not meet the 
minimum standards.  Furthermore, there does not appear to be any means to 
access either garden area and therefore unusable. As such, the lack of garden 
space would not be adequate, to the detriment of future occupiers’ enjoyment of 
the properties.  

6.39. Overall, whilst the proposed dwellings would accord with the National Housing 
Standards for gross internal floor area and individual room sizes, the proposed 
garden areas would not meet the minimum size or depth as laid out in the 
adopted Residential Layout Guidelines.  Therefore in terms of occupier amenity, 
the proposal would be contrary to Policy CS19 (LPCS) and para. 130f of the 
NPPF (2021).

6.40. Neighbouring Amenity

6.41. The proposed building would be located approx. 2.8m from rear elevation of No. 
55 and whilst the reduction in height of the building would address some of 
previous objections relating to the loss of light and outlook from the ground floor 
rear windows of No. 55, there would still be an 1.17m approximate high 
boundary / retaining wall set within close proximity (2.8m) to the existing rear 
windows and as such is still considered to be intrusive on the occupants of those 
units.  

6.42. The proposal also removes all private and shared amenity areas to serve all of 
the residents of the flats at No. 55 that were approved under applications 
20150176 and 20190345, together with details of landscaping as shown in the 
background section above.  The proposed new building in being in such close 
proximity to the existing property, together with the loss of amenity space would 
have a detrimental impact on the occupiers of the flats of No. 55.

6.43. Therefore in terms of neighbour amenity, the proposal conflicts with the 
objectives of Policy CS19 (LPCS) and para. 130f of the NPPF (2021).

6.44. Ecology and Biodiversity

6.45. The west of the site to the front of the existing block of flats has been grassed, 
as has a portion of rear directly behind the block of flats.

6.46. The remaining area to the east has currently not been soft landscaped.
  

6.47. The landscaping proposals that were approved under applications 20150176 
and 20190345 for the existing block of flats to the front included extensive soft 
landscaping to both the front and rear of the existing flats.

Page 38



6.48. As a result of the proposed application, the existing lawn areas to the front and rear 
of the existing flats would be lost and the proposed landscaping for the existing 
approvals (Refs. 20150176 and 20190345) could not be implemented.

6.49. The amenity areas for the proposed development would be significantly less than 
the existing and what was proposed as part of the previous approvals.

6.50. Whilst it is acknowledged that the applicant has attempted to address the loss of 
amenity areas approved under application references 20150176 and 20190345 by 
providing a planting scheme and by the use of grasscrete for the parking areas, 
overall it is considered that the proposed development would still result in a 
biodiversity net loss to the area and would conflict with Policy CS12 (LPCS) and 
paragraphs 180 and 181 of the NPPF (2021). 

6.51. The Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar site and Special Protection Area (SPA) 
are internationally important for nature conservation as the area is a wetland and 
supports important numbers of wintering waterbirds and migrating birds.  There has 
been a decline in the number of birds using these sites in recent years. Studies 
show that this could be due to people using the estuary and marshes for recreation 
purposes. The North Kent Bird Disturbance Report concludes that all new housing 
development within 6km of the North Kent Ramsar Sites or Special Protection 
Areas (including the Thames Estuary and Marshes) and larger housing 
development beyond 6km from the sites could have an adverse impact on them. 
This is because new housing development is likely to lead to further increases in 
recreational use of the sites which means that further declines in the bird population 
cannot be ruled out.  Possible mitigation measures are set out in the Thames, 
Medway and Swale Estuaries Strategic Access Management and Monitoring 
Strategy.  Having considered a number of options, the Council have decided to 
impose a tariff on new housing development. Developers will need to pay £253.83 
for every new dwelling provided within 6km of the Ramsar site and SPA and for 
larger housing developments beyond 6km from them. The money raised will be 
used to pay for schemes to avoid the adverse impacts of new housing development 
on the birds. 

6.52. Where there are no other contributions required for a development applicants 
generally have chosen to submit the payment of £253.83 per dwelling by filling in 
the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) Agreement. 
By filling in this form there are no legal fees to be paid by the applicant and refund 
mechanisms are in place in the event of a refusal. In this instance the agent 
confirmed on 15 October 2021 they wish to enter into a Unilateral Undertaking.

Page 39



6.53. At the time of publishing this report no legal fees or Unilateral Undertaking have 
been received, therefore the proposal fails to secure a contribution towards 
strategic mitigation measures within Special Protection Areas, and in the absence 
of this contribution or adequate information to inform an Appropriate Assessment, 
the development fails to comply with the requirements of the Habitat Regulations 
and Section 14 (specifically paragraphs 180 and 181) of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2021 and Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy 2014.

Parking and Highways

6.54. The proposed development would be built on the car parking area for the existing 
property at 55 Rochester Road and none should be lost as a result of this 
development.  There are currently five parking spaces on the land to be developed 
and with the three additional ones for the proposed flats it provides a car parking 
requirement of 8 in total.   This would result in one space per unit which would 
accord with the minimum parking standard and one additional space for potential 
visitors.  

6.55. The existing alleyway is currently an unlit access that is used by the existing 
properties to access the rear parking areas.  The proposed lighting scheme 
submitted with the proposal has included lighting located on the south elevation of 
House B to provide surveillance lighting to the access road as well as lighting to the 
rear amenity areas and side access.

6.56. Subject to access rights, as the alleyway to the side is outside the applicant’s 
ownership, the proposed parking provision is considered acceptable.

6.57. The GBC Highway Development Management Officer has recommended that the 
car parking at the front of the property be removed due to its proximity to the public 
highway which could result in a vehicle having to wait on the road whilst another 
vehicle completes its manoeuvring to the detriment of highway safety and the free 
flow of traffic.

6.58. Overall and taking into consideration the above, in terms of parking provision for the 
proposed and existing flats, the proposal would accord with Policy CS11 of the 
Core Strategy 2014.

7. Conclusion

7.1. It is acknowledged that the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a five-year 
housing supply and as the delivery of housing is substantially below (less than 
75%) that required by the Housing Delivery Test, the housing delivery element of 
Policy CS02 (LPCS) must be regarded to be out of date, as required by the 
Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF. 

7.2. The proposed development for a net increase of 2no. dwelling units (in this case 2 
houses) would offer a minimal contribution towards meeting this local need and 
delivery and, accordingly, adds some weight in support of the application. 

7.3. However, notwithstanding this a balanced approach has to be taken and it is 
considered that the adverse impacts of the development would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
NPPF (2021) and established local policy taken as a whole.  

Page 40



7.4. In this case the balance is tilted towards refusal for the following reasons:

7.5. The proposals are considered to constitute an overdevelopment of the rear garden 
which would result in a comparatively cramped form of backland development and 
would be incongruous considering the existing pattern of development and the 
character of the residential gardens which comprise the area.  It is therefore harmful 
to the character and appearance of the site and the wider locality and would 
contravene Policies CS14, CS15 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy September 2014 which ensure new development will integrate well with 
the surrounding local area.  At a national level the proposed development would 
also contravene paragraph 71 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
which states 'Local planning authorities should consider the case for setting out 
policies to resist inappropriate development of residential gardens, for example 
where development would cause harm to the local area'.

7.6. The proposal would result in a detrimental impact on the amenities of the occupiers of 
the flats at No. 55 in terms of loss of private and shared amenity space, contrary to 
Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014 and para. 130f of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2021.

7.7. The proposal would fail to provide adequate private amenity space and would result in 
a detrimental impact on the amenities of future occupiers of the dwellings, contrary to 
Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014 and para. 130f of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2021.

7.8. The proposal fails to secure a contribution towards strategic mitigation measures 
within Special Protection Areas, and in the absence of this contribution or adequate 
information to inform an Appropriate Assessment, the development fails to comply 
with the requirements of the Habitat Regulations and Section 14 (specifically 
paragraphs 180 and 181) of the (NPPF (2021) and Policy CS12 (LPCS).

______________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to be REFUSED Planning Permission, for the following 
reasons:

1. The proposals are considered to constitute an overdevelopment of the rear garden 
which would result in a comparatively cramped form of backland development and 
would be incongruous considering the existing pattern of development and the 
character of the residential gardens which comprise the area.  It is therefore harmful to 
the character and appearance of the site and the wider locality and would contravene 
Policies CS14, CS15 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 
2014 which ensure new development will integrate well with the surrounding local area.  
At a national level the proposed development would also contravene paragraph 71 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) which states 'Local planning authorities 
should consider the case for setting out policies to resist inappropriate development of 
residential gardens, for example where development would cause harm to the local 
area'.

2. The proposal would result in a detrimental impact on the amenities of the occupiers of 
the flats at No. 55 in terms of loss of private and shared amenity space, contrary to 

Page 41



Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014 and para. 130f of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2021.

3. The proposal would fail to provide adequate private amenity space and would result in a 
detrimental impact on the amenities of future occupiers of the dwellings, contrary to 
Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014 and para. 130f of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2021.

4. The proposal fails to secure a contribution towards strategic mitigation measures within 
Special Protection Areas, and in the absence of this contribution or adequate 
information to inform an Appropriate Assessment, the development fails to comply with 
the requirements of the Habitat Regulations and Section 14 (specifically paragraphs 180 
and 181) of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and Policy CS12 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

INFORMATIVES

1. DRAWINGS AND DOCUMENTS

For the avoidance of doubt, the decision to refuse this application was taken in relation to the 
following forms, plans and documents comprising the application:

Planning Application Form;
Design and Access Statement;
Drawing No. 016-P-001 Rev G - Site Location Plan;
Drawing No. 016-P-002 Rev G - Existing Block Plan;
Drawing No. 016-P-010 Rev G - Existing Ground Floor Plan;
Drawing No. 016-P-011 Rev G - Existing First Floor Plan;
Drawing No. 016-P-013 Rev G - Existing Roof Plan;
Drawing No. 016-P-020 Rev G - Existing West Elevation;
Drawing No. 016-P-021 Rev G - Existing North Elevation;
Drawing No. 016-P-022 Rev G - Existing South Elevation;
Drawing No. 016-P-023 Rev G - Existing East Elevation;
Drawing No. 016-P-100 Rev G - Proposed Block Plan;
Drawing No. 016-P-110 Rev G - Proposed Ground Floor Plan;
Drawing No. 016-P-111 Rev G - Proposed First Floor Plan;
Drawing No. 016-P-113 Rev G - Proposed Roof Plan;
Drawing No. 016-P-114 Rev G - Proposed Front Car Parking;
Drawing No. 016-P-115 Rev G - Proposed Front Car Parking Access;
Drawing No. 016-P-120 Rev G - Proposed West Elevation;
Drawing No. 016-P-121 Rev G - Proposed North Elevation;
Drawing No. 016-P-122 Rev G - Proposed South Elevation;
Drawing No. 016-P-123 Rev G - Proposed East Elevation;
Drawing No. 016-P-140 Rev G – Proposed Planting Plan;
Drawing No. 016-P-141 Rev G – Proposed Lighting Plan; and
Grasscrete Brochure.

2. STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021, the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment 
and determination of this application in a positive and creative way and, where appropriate, has 

Page 42



worked pro-actively with the applicant to secure a development that is sustainable and that 
improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance 
with the Development Plan for the area.

In this instance, the application is contrary to local and national planning policy and the 
planning objections could not be overcome by amendments to the scheme or through the 
imposition of acceptable and appropriate planning conditions.

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20210453

Site Address: Former Cinema Site 11 King Street Gravesend Kent

Application 
Description:

Repair, restoration, extension and repurposing of 11-12 King Street to 
provide a residents' workhub at ground floor level and 6 flats above 
along with the construction of a new building to the rear standing 
between part 6 and part 9 storeys to contain 47 flats together with car 
and cycle parking, refuse and recycling storage and private and 
communal amenity spaces.  

Applicant: Lali Enterprises Ltd

Agent: James Doherty, Boyer Planning

Ward: Riverside 

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 13 July 2021 – Extension of Time 30 September 2021

Decision Level: Planning Committee – Wednesday 27 October 2021

Reason for referral: Cllr Croxton

Recommendation: Refuse
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

The submitted application seeks full planning permission for the repair, restoration, extension and 
repurposing of 11-12 King Street to provide a residents' workhub at ground floor level and 6 flats 
above along with the construction of a new building to the rear standing between part 6 and part 9 
storeys to contain 47 flats together with car and cycle parking, refuse and recycling storage and 
private and communal amenity spaces with the total number of flats for the proposed development 
being 53; there would be 22 no. 1 bed units and 31 no. 2 bed units.

It is acknowledged that the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a five-year housing 
supply and as the delivery of housing is substantially below (less than 75%) that required by the 
Housing Delivery Test, the housing delivery element of Policy CS02 (LPCS) must be regarded 
to be out of date, as required by the Paragraph 11(d) of the (NPPF) 2021. 

The proposed development for a net increase of 53 dwellings would offer a substantial 
contribution towards meeting this local need and delivery and, accordingly, adds weight in 
support of the application.  Furthermore, this development would redevelop a vacant and 
underused which has been vacant for many years, would be a sustainable form of development 
in relation to location and construction methods, would provide sufficient refuse storage, be 
acceptable in respect of parking and highway safety, flood risk and drainage and contaminated 
land (subject to conditions).

However, notwithstanding this the proposed development would be unacceptable in design and 
heritage terms, the amenity of future occupiers and neighbouring properties and as it currently 
stands, and it would not protect the Thames Estuary and Marshes SPA/Ramsar site.   

Page 45 Agenda Item 5c



It is considered that the adverse impacts of the development would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF (2021) 
and established local policy taken as a whole.  

In this case the balance is tilted towards refusal as set out in the analysis section of this report. 

All representations received from both third parties and consultees have been taken into account 
when considering this proposal and the development is considered to conflict with local and 
national planning policy. 

It is recommended that the application is refused for the reasons set out at the end of this 
report.
____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description and Surroundings

1.1 The application site as shown on the map below, is located on the north side of King Street 
and comprises a thin rectangular section on the King Street plot which opens into a wider 
roughly square area of land behind which is bordered by Brewhouse Yard to the north and 
properties in Queen Street to the east and 1-2 King Street to the west.  On the rectangular 
section fronting King Street is all that remains of the cinema building which used to stand on 
the site. 

Map showing location of 
site

1.2 The cinema was opened as The Majestic Cinema in 1931, taken over by Union Cinemas in 
1933 when a Compton organ was installed.  The Majestic was re-named the ABC in 1963, 
and enlarged from one to three screens in 1972.  In 1986 it was taken over by the Cannon 

Page 46



Group and renamed the Cannon cinema and in the early 1990s it became the MGM and 
then in 1995 the ABC again.  Odeon then leased the building out to an independent operator 
and became the EMD Cinema with an agreement that only non-English language films 
would be screened.  The cinema closed in 2002 when the United Church of the Kingdom of 
God took over the building but moved out by 2006.  Following a fire in 2009 a large part of 
the building including the auditorium was demolished.  In 2012 planning permission was 
granted for a temporary car park.  There have been two previous applications made for re-
development of the site, the first of which in 2007 was withdrawn and the second was 
refused in 2008.  

1.3 The front part of the building as stated remains with the rest of the site where the cinema 
stood now being vacant land, there is boarding around the site fronting Brewhouse Yard.

1.4 King Street itself is a broad street with two, three and four storey buildings on either side 
ranging from the 19th and 20th centuries with a varied amount of architectural styles. 

 
1.5 As shown in the map below, the front part of the site which has the remaining part of the 

building on it lies within the King Street Conservation Area.  The rear part of the site is not 
within a Conservation Area itself but is adjacent to both the King Street Conservation 
Area and the High Street and Queen Street Conservation Area.  The site is also in an 
Area of Archaeological Potential, the Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar Buffer Zone, 
Gravesend Town Centre Opportunity Area, primary shopping area, has South Water 
sewer pipelines and in Flood zone 1.    

Extract from Gravesham Local Plan Policies Map showing Conservation Areas and Scheduled Monuments

1.6 As identified on the extract from Historic England’s Listed Buildings Map, there are a number 
of listed buildings within the vicinity.  Opposite the site at no. 26 King Street is the grade II 
listed former County Court building dating from 1870 with two telephone boxes, one a K2 
and the other a K6 both listed grade II.  To the south-west at no. 30 King Street is a fine 
bank building built in 1889 in the Arts and Crafts Baroque style.

  

Page 47



1.7 To the north in the High Street is the Grade II* listed Town Hall and nos. 55 – 59 High Street 
are all individually grade II listed and in most close proximity to the site.  There are other 
grade II listed buildings further down the High Street.  In Queen Street there is 26-28 Queen 
Street listed grade II and the grade II listed Queen Victoria statue within the Borough Market.   
In the vicinity to the north-west is St George’s church (grade II* listed) and St John’s Church 
(grade II listed).

1.8 No. 11-12 King Street is identified as a key unlisted building in the King Street Conservation 
Area.  It has been identified as a Building at Risk in the Appraisal being empty, partly 
demolished and in a deteriorating condition.  

Extract from Historic England – Listed Buildings Map

1.9 There have been two applications previously for redevelopment of the site.  One for 
erection of a seven storey building for 44 flats (ref. 20070259) was withdrawn due to a 
number of concerns with the proposal, including bulk and overlooking.  A subsequent 
application in 2008 (ref. 20080305) which was for a seven storey building for 39 flats was 
refused on the harm it would cause to the character and appearance of the King Street 
and Queen Street Conservation Area (and possibility the High Street Conservation Area) 
by virtue of its height and massing, and insufficient financial contributions.    In 2012 
planning permission was granted on appeal for use of the land to the rear as a temporary 
pay and display car park which was due to cease use by 30 June 2017, whilst the 
permission has not been implemented, the site appears to be in use as a unmade car 
park.

Page 48



2. Planning History

20120435 Change of use of former cinema site to a temporary pay and display car 
park. 

Refused 07/09/2021
Allowed on Appeal 11/07/2013

20080305 Erection of building up to seven storeys in height with retention of the 
King Street entrance facade with first floor office space above, to provide 
retail/community space at ground floor level with 39 self-contained flats, 
comprising 20 one bedroom flats and 19 two bedroom flats, at first to 
sixth floor levels with entrance onto Brewhouse Yard and provision of 37 
car parking spaces at basement level with vehicular access onto 
Brewhouse Yard.

Refused 10/10/2008

20070259 Demolition of remaining building with retention of the King Street facade; 
erection of seven storey building to provide cinema /conference hall, 
banqueting hall with bar area, reception, wc accommodation and refuse 
store; separate area for bicycle store and refuse store for flats; self 
contained office space at first floor level above entrance area; forty four 
one and two bedroom self-contained flats at first to sixth floor level with 
entrance in Brewhouse yard and provision of 26 underground car parking 
spaces in basement with access onto Brewhouse Yard.

Withdrawn 06/07/2007

3. Proposal

3.1.1 The development is for ‘Repair, restoration, extension and repurposing of 11-12 King 
Street to provide a residents' workhub at ground floor level and 6 flats above along with 
the construction of a new building to the rear standing between part 6 and part 9 storeys 
to contain 47 flats together with car and cycle parking, refuse and recycling storage and 
private and communal amenity spaces, with the total number of flats for the proposed 
development being 53’.  There would be 22 no. 1 bed units and 31 no. 2 bed units.

3.2 The application comprises the following plans and documents

 Application form;
 Drawing no. 200-021 Rev. P0 – Existing Elevations 02;
 Drawing no. 200-020 Rev. P0 – Existing Elevations;
 Drawing no. 200-001 Rev. P0 – Site Location and Block Plan;
 Drawing no. 200-046 Rev. P0 – Contextual Elevations 01;
 Drawing no. 200-032 Rev. P0 – Proposed 1st Floor Plan;
 Drawing no. 200-039 Rev. P0 – Proposed 8th Floor Plan;
 Drawing no. 200-044 Rev. P0 – Proposed Elevations 05;
 Drawing no. 200-045 Rev. P0 – Proposed Elevations 06;
 Drawing no. 200-031 Rev. P0 – Proposed Ground Floor Plan;
 Drawing no. 200-038 Rev. P0 – Proposed 7th Floor Plan;
 Drawing no. 200-048 Rev. P0 – Proposed Commercial Unit Layout;
 Drawing no. 200-040 Rev. P0 – Existing Elevations 01;
 Drawing no. 200-047 Rev. P0 – Proposed Roof Plan;
 Drawing no. 200-033 Rev. P0 – Proposed 2nd Floor Plan;
 Drawing no. 200-035 Rev. P0 – Proposed 4th Floor Plan;
 Drawing no. 200-042 Rev. P0 – Proposed Elevations 03;

Page 49



 Drawing no. 200-041 Rev. P0 – Proposed Elevations 02;
 Drawing no. 200-034 Rev. P0 – Proposed 3rd Floor Plan;
 Drawing no. 200-043 Rev. P0 – Proposed Elevations 04;
 Drawing no. 200-036 Rev. P0 – Proposed 5th Floor Plan;
 Drawing no. 200-037 Rev. P0 – Proposed 6th Floor Plan;
 Drawing no. 200-010 Rev. P0 – Existing Site Plan;
 Drawing no. 200-030 Rev. P0 – Proposed Site Plan;
 Design & Access Statement;
 Planning Statement;
 Heritage and Townscape Statement by HCUK Group;
 Daylight, Sunlight & Overshadowing Report by XC02;
 Proposed Scheme Daylight, Sunlight & Overshadowing by XC02;
 Flood Risk Assessment and SUDS Strategy;
 Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Report 20753.NVIA.01 by KP Acoustics;
 Financial Viability Assessment by QP Associates;
 Utilities Statement Report by XC02;
 Energy & Sustainability Statement by XC02;
 Air Quality Mitigation Statement ref. 3599-200505_ML_AQA by Lustre Consulting;
 Phase 1 Desk Study ref. 3599-200505-ML by Lustre Consulting
 Ecological Assessment Report Ref. DFA21009 by Derek Finnie Associates
 Delivery & Servicing Plan by Pulsar Transport Planning; and
 Transport Statement by Pulsar Transport Planning.

4. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

4.1.1 The relevant polices for this proposal are as follows:

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014)
 CS01 – Sustainable Development
 CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development
 CS05 – Gravesend Town Centre Opportunity Area
 CS07 – Economy, Employment and Skills
 CS08 – Retail, Leisure and the Hierarchy of Centres
 CS11 - Transport
 CS12 – Green Infrastructure
 CS13 – Green Space, Sport and Recreation
 CS14 – Housing Type and Size
 CS15 – Housing Density
 CS16 – Affordable Housing
 CS18 – Climate Change
 CS19  - Development & Design Principles
 CS20 – Heritage and the Historic Environment

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994)
 P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards
 S4 – Secondary Shopping Frontage
 T1 – Impact of Development on Highway Network
 T5 – New Access onto Highway Network
 LT6 – Additional Open Space in New Housing Developments
 TC2 – Listed Buildings
 TC3 – Development Affecting Conservation Areas

Page 50



 TC7 – Other Archaeological Sites

4.2 Paragraph 33 of the NPPF (2021) sets out that policies within adopted local plans should be 
reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and should 
then be updated as necessary.  Such reviews are also a legal requirement as set out in 
Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England Regulations 
2012.

4.3 The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and found that the adopted Local 
Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02, due to the 
increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted and the need to 
ensure that a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need.  Whilst saved policies from the 
Local Plan 1st Review (1994) generally conform with the NPPF (2021), the Council will also 
seek to replace these.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development
 4 – Decision-making
 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
 6 – Building a strong and competitive economy
 7 – Ensuring the vitality of town centres
 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
 9 – Promoting sustainable transport
 11 – Making effective use of land
 12 – Achieving sustainable development and well-designed places
 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance
 King Street Conservation Area Character Appraisal (2009)
 High Street & Queen Street Conservation Area Character Appraisal (2009)
 Management Plan Gravesend Town Centre Conservation Areas (2009)
 SPG2 - Residential layout guidelines including Housing Standards Policy Statement 

October 2015 Adopted 1996 – amended June 2020;
 SPG3  - Archaeology in Historic Towns (July 2006)
 SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
 KCC Guide to Development Contributions and the Provision of Community Infrastructure 

(2007)
 Kent Design Guide
 Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standards;

4.4 The Council has a statutory duty under 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects the settling of listed buildings, to have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses.

4.5 Section 72(1) of the Planning Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act 1990 (as amended) 
requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of the conservation area.

Page 51



5. Consultations and Publicity Responses 

5.1 Consultees

Internal 

GBC Conservation Architect 

Regarding this application I do not think it has addressed the initial pre application advice 
regarding the scale and impact of the proposals on both Brewhouse Yard, the adjacent 
conservation areas or the listed buildings.

We had advised a reduction of 3 storeys but this had not been fully considered, simply offering a 
partial step down which does little to address the concerns of scale and bulk; and will result in an 
adverse impact on the Brewhouse Yard street scene and any future emerging regeneration 
projects on adjacent sites.

When viewed from a distance the height and scale of the proposal has not been considered and 
will adversely impact on collective views of the spires and clocktower which form important historic 
townscape features within their respective conservation areas.  Indeed the roof profile of the 
proposal offers little positive contribution, being somewhat bland and monolithic.

Materials pay little reference to local materials, being predominantly London Stock brick.

On the whole local identity has not been referenced in the proposed tower block, nether in form or 
materiality.

For the above reasons the proposals do not comply with local or national policy and cannot be 
supported.

GBC Highways Development Management Officer

This is a town centre location so maximum car parking provision applies so there are no objections 
on the basis of the car parking provision. However, given Central Government’s a stated aim to be 
carbon neutral in approximately the next fifteen years, all spaces should be cabled for future 
installation of electric vehicle charging points in the region of 7 to 7.2 kW/h at each space and 
ideally 20% have suitable charging points installed. Given the location and access all parking 
spaces should only be available for residents use.

Of more concern is the issue of removals and deliveries which are liable to be more than the 
cinema would have. Indeed it is possible the cinema was served by King Street. To avoid 
reversing onto Queen Street which would be a blind manoeuvre and far from safe, the applicant 
should demonstrate by swept path drawings that a Panel Van can turn at or near the western 
end/access to the development in Brewhouse Yard. Whilst the situation may be existing traffic 
patterns are liable to change as a result of development with the potential for more conflict and 
obstruction of the road whilst deliveries take place.   

GBC Leisure

Policy CS13 and the NPPF recognises that access to high quality open spaces and opportunities 
for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and well-being of 
communities. As also outlined by Sport England, consideration should be given to how any new 
development, especially for new housing, will provide opportunities for people to lead healthy 
lifestyles and create healthy communities.  Due to the constrained nature of this major 

Page 52



development and the associated high rise form, it would not be expected that the developer would 
provide all types of formal and informal leisure provision at site, but it is reasonable to expect the 
applicant to offset the impact of its development on existing leisure facilities in the area. 

Based on all the assessment data currently available including, the Open Space, Sport & 
Recreation Assessment compiled by Knight Kavanagh & Page in 2016; there is particular shortage 
in the provision of 3G artificial pitches, junior/youth grass pitches and ancillary buildings, swimming 
pool lanes and an overall ageing leisure centre facility stock at Cygnet and Cascades Leisure 
Centres (of which a feasibility study will be commissioned in the near future looking at 
refurbishment and new build options). There is also the need for major capital improvements to 
play equipment across the borough, of which the number of total sites available within the borough 
is remarkably less when compared to other areas. A planned approach for future investment has 
been developed by Operational Services across a number of specific sites. Areas close to this 
particular development site include the Riverside Leisure area, which is anticipated to require 
further investment in the next 2-3 years.

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/community-and-leisure/sports-and-recreation/open-space,-
sport-and-recreation-assessment

Taking into consideration the development’s location within the borough and real time 
need/deficiencies on the ground, the development would be expected to make a financial 
contribution towards upgrading and improving existing leisure provisions, which may include those 
facilities listed above.  Using Sport England Sports Facility Calculator (SFC), and if we assume 
133 residents within the new development (based on an average of 2.5 residents per residential 
dwelling), the SFC gives an indicative contribution figure of approximately £59,743.

GBC Waste

I have reviewed the above planning application and have the following comments.  

 I cannot support the location of the bin store, it is located at the farthest point from the 
public highway and there is no access for the vehicle.  The only option is for the bins to be 
placed nearer to the public highway on collection day for emptying and then placed back in 
the store by the managing company.

 The bin store contains the correct number of refuse and recycling bins, however the food 
waste bin cannot be an 1100ltr bin.  We specific 140ltr bins and for a development of this 
size there would need to be 5 x 23ltr food wheelie bins

 Each flat will need to be provided with a 5ltr food caddie

 There does need to be separate bin storage provision for the commercial units.

Our standard guidance is 

 Flats are generally serviced by communal bin stores.  Bin stores should be large enough to 
accommodate and manoeuvre sufficient 1,100 litre refuse and recycling Eurobins for the 
number of dwellings in each block.

 Developers are required to pay for the provision of all bins required for a development and 
these can be purchased through the Council.  Developers are welcome to purchase their 
own 1,100 litre bins however the bins must be metal and comply with European Standard 
EN840.

Page 53

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/community-and-leisure/sports-and-recreation/open-space,-sport-and-recreation-assessment
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/community-and-leisure/sports-and-recreation/open-space,-sport-and-recreation-assessment


 The following provision is required
o Refuse - 1 x 1,100ltr bin per 6 flats
o Recycling – 1 x 1,100ltr bin per 6 flats with special recycling lid
o Food Waste – 1 x 140ltr bin per 10 flats with an individual 5ltr caddy per flat

 The immediate area outside the bin store should be level with the road, should not include 
an incline and the installation of a drop kerb where necessary is mandatory.  Car parking 
spaces should not be allocated immediately in front of the access to the bin store.

 The maximum distance bins will be moved by collection crews should be no more than 15 
metres.  

 It is recommended that bin stores are fitted with a lock which is accessed via a key or a key 
code pad.

 Where there is a building of mixed use (ie flat above shop), then separate waste provision 
must be made for the domestic and commercial premises.

Collections from sites will not occur until containers are in place.  It is the responsibility of the 
developer to collect and remove any waste at their cost until the Council is satisfied that all waste 
requirements have been met.  All complaints in regard to non-collection due to the fault of the 
developer will be passed onto to the developer for response.

The Council should be informed at least two weeks prior to the waste collections by the council 
taking place.

External

KCC Archaeology 

Below ground archaeological interest
The site has general background archaeological potential as well as more specifically with respect 
to the post-medieval and modern development of this area of the town. Groundworks at the site 
are likely to reveal below-ground archaeological remains, though these are likely to have been 
impacted by the most recent construction at the site. I therefore think that it would be reasonable 
to require that in the event that planning permission is granted the works are subject to a Watching 
Brief secured by the following condition:
 
AR4     No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, 
has secured the implementation of a watching brief to be undertaken by an archaeologist 
approved by the Local Planning Authority so that groundworks are observed and items of interest 
and finds are recorded. The watching brief shall be in accordance with a Written Scheme of 
Investigation, which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason:           To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and 
recorded.
 
Standing building archaeological interest 
The application has been submitted with a Design and Access Statement which includes 
information about the history of the cinema and what remains of the structure following fire and 
partial demolition. In the event that planning permission is granted I recommend that historic 
building recording is undertaken on the surviving element with the aim of producing an Historic 
Building Record report which can be lodged with the Kent Historic Environment Record for future 
reference and research. The Historic Building Record report should be to Historic England Level 2 

Page 54



and include a description of the building and its history (as included in the D&A Statement), 
observations from historic building recording during development, along with plans, sections, 
elevations and photographs and information about how the surviving historic elements have been 
incorporated into the new development. This work could be secured by the following planning 
condition:
 
AR7     No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, 
has secured the implementation of a programme of building recording in accordance with a written 
specification and timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason:           To ensure that historic building features are properly examined and recorded.

Kent Highway Services

The application is supported by a Transport Statement which is considered to be robust and 
covers all of the necessary highway issues.

This is a town centre location with the majority of key facilities, including bus services and the 
station, available nearby within walking or cycling distance. Reliance on the use of the private car 
is therefore expected to be relatively low.

Vehicle generation is expected to be low for the one and two bedroom flats and is not considered 
to create any highway congestion or safety problems.

Car parking is being provided in accordance with KCC Parking Standards which is a maximum.  
The provision of 22 parking spaces for the 47 units is considered acceptable accepting that there 
is plenty of public car parking availability nearby. It is unclear from the submitted documents how 
the parking spaces are to be allocated although it would be preferred if some sort of parking 
management were in place to avoid unnecessary turn and the use of Brewhouse Yard. Cycle 
parking is proposed in accordance with KCC standards.

I therefore confirm that provided the following requirements are secured by condition or planning 
obligation, then I would raise no objection on behalf of the local highway authority:-

1 A car parking management scheme shall be submitted to and approved by the LPA prior to first 
occupation.

2  All Electric Vehicle chargers provided for homeowners in residential developments must be 
provided to Mode 3 standard (providing up to 7kw) and SMART (enabling Wifi connection). 
Approved models are shown on the Office for Low Emission Vehicles Homecharge Scheme 
approved charge point model list: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/electric-vehicle-
homecharge-scheme-approved-chargepointmodel-list. At least 10% of parking spaces shall be 
provided with active EV charging facilities and a further 10% of spaces provided with passive i.e. 
cabling / ducting, facilities.

3  Provision and permanent retention of the vehicle parking spaces shown on the submitted plans 
prior to first occupation.

4  Details of cycle parking facilities shown on the submitted plans should be submitted to and 
approved by the LPA prior to first occupation.

5  Provision and maintenance of the visibility splays shown on the submitted plans with no 
obstructions  over 1.05 metres above carriageway level within the splays, prior to the use of the 
site commencing.

Page 55



6  Submission of a Construction Management Plan before the commencement of any 
development on site to include the following:
(a) Routing of construction and delivery vehicles to / from site
(b) Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site personnel
(c) Timing of deliveries
(d) Provision of wheel washing facilities
(e) Temporary traffic management / signage

Please advise the applicant the they will require the separate consent from KCC Highways for any 
access works within the existing public highway.

INFORMATIVE: Should the development be approved by the Planning Authority, it is the 
responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development is commenced, that all necessary 
highway approvals and consents where required are obtained and that the limits of highway 
boundary are clearly established in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the 
Highway Authority.  

Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do not look like 
roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called ‘highway land’. Some of this 
land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst some are owned by third party owners. 
Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have ‘highway rights’ over the topsoil.  Information 
about how to clarify the highway boundary can be found at https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-
travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-enquiries

The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in every 
aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore important for 
the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect of the works 
prior to commencement on site.

KCC Biodiversity – Ecological Advice Service

No ecological information has been submitted with this application. As a result of reviewing the 
data we have available to us (including aerial photos and biological records), and the information 
submitted with the planning application, we advise that the proposed development has limited 
potential to result in ecological impacts. We have taken this view due to the hardstanding and 
urbanised nature of the site. 

Designated Sites 

The development includes proposals for new dwellings within the zone of influence of Thames 
Estuary and Marshes Special Protection Area (SPA) and Wetland of International Importance 
under the Ramsar Convention (Ramsar Site). Gravesham BC will need to ensure that the 
proposals fully adhere to the agreed approach within the North Kent Strategic Access 
Management and Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) to mitigate for additional recreational impacts on 
the designated sites and to ensure that adequate means are in place to secure the mitigation 
before first occupation.  

A decision from the Court of Justice of the European Union has detailed that mitigation measures 
cannot be taken into account when carrying out a screening assessment to decide whether a full 
‘appropriate assessment’ is needed under the Habitats Directive. Therefore, due to the need for 
the application to contribute to the North Kent SAMMS, we advise that there is a need for an 
appropriate assessment to be carried out as part of this application. 

Breeding Bird Informative 
Habitats are present on and around the site that provide opportunities for breeding birds. Any work 

Page 56



to vegetation/structures that may provide suitable nesting habitats should be carried out outside of 
the bird breeding season (March to August) to avoid destroying or damaging bird nests in use or 
being built. If vegetation/structures need to be removed during the breeding season, mitigation 
measures need to be implemented during construction. This includes examination by an 
experienced ecologist prior to starting work and if any nesting birds are found, development must 
cease until after the juveniles have fledged. We suggest the following informative is included with 
any planning consent: 

The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended (section 
1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use 
or being built.  Planning consent for a development does not provide a defence against 
prosecution under this Act.  Breeding bird habitat is present on the application site and assumed 
to contain nesting birds between 1st March and 31st August, unless a recent survey has been 
undertaken by a competent ecologist and has shown that nesting birds are not present. 

Ecological Enhancements 
Under section 40 of the NERC Act (2006), and paragraph 175 of the NPPF (2019), biodiversity 
must be maintained and enhanced through the planning system. Examples of ecological 
enhancements for this development include a green roof, provision of bird boxes and a native 
species-only landscape plan. 

To secure the implementation of enhancements, we advise that a condition is attached to any 
granted planning permission. Suggested wording: 

Within six months of works commencing, details of how the development will enhance biodiversity 
will be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. This will include the 
provision of bird boxes and a native species-only landscape scheme. The approved details will be 
implemented and thereafter retained. 

KCC Biodiversity – Flood and Water Management

Kent County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority have reviewed the Flood Risk Assessment 
and SuDS Strategy prepared by Subsantia Group dated March 2021 and agree in principle to the 
proposed development.

The proposals seek to utilise a combination of greenroof and permeable paving prior to an 
underground attenuation tank with infiltration into the underlying chalk which is considered to 
provide a significant betterment and ensure compliance with the discharge hierarchy.

Should your authority be minded to grant permission for the proposed development, we 
recommend the following conditions are attached:

Condition:
Development shall not begin in any phase until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the local planning 
authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall be based upon the Flood Risk Assessment and 
SuDS Strategy prepared by Subsantia Group dated March 2021 and shall demonstrate that the 
surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall durations and intensities up to and 
including the climate change adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be accommodated and 
disposed of without increase to flood risk on or off-site.

The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate (with reference to published guidance):
• that silt and pollutants resulting from the site use can be adequately managed to ensure there is 
no pollution risk to receiving waters.

Page 57



• appropriate operational, maintenance and access requirements for each drainage feature or 
SuDS component are adequately considered, including any proposed arrangements for future 
adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker.

The drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason:
To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the disposal of surface 
water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the risk of on/off site flooding. 
These details and accompanying calculations are required prior to the commencement of the 
development as they form an intrinsic part of the proposal, the approval of which cannot be 
disaggregated from the carrying out of the rest of the development.

Condition:
No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the development 
hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Verification Report, pertaining to the surface water 
drainage system and prepared by a suitably competent person, has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The Report shall demonstrate that the drainage system 
constructed is consistent with that which was approved.  The Report shall contain information and 
evidence (including photographs) of details and locations of inlets, outlets and control structures; 
landscape plans; full as built drawings; information pertinent to the installation of those items 
identified on the critical drainage assets drawing; and, the submission of an operation and 
maintenance manual for the sustainable drainage scheme as constructed.

Reason:
To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land and neighbouring land 
are minimised, together with those risks to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and 
to ensure that the development as constructed is compliant with and subsequently maintained 
pursuant to the requirements of paragraph 165 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

This response has been provided using the best knowledge and information submitted as part of 
the planning application at the time of responding and is reliant on the accuracy of that 
information.

KCC Economic Development

The County Council has assessed the implications of this proposal in terms of the delivery of its 
community services and is of the opinion that it will have an additional impact on the delivery of its 
services, which will require mitigation either through the direct provision of infrastructure or the 
payment of an appropriate financial contribution. 

The Planning Act 2008 and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (the CIL 
Regulations) (Regulation 122) require that requests for development contributions of various kinds 
must comply with three specific legal tests: 

1. Necessary, 
2. Related to the development, and 
3. Reasonably related in scale and kind 

These tests have been duly applied in the context of this planning application and give rise to 
the following specific requirements (the evidence supporting these requirements is set out 
in the attached Appendices).  

Request Summary 

Page 58



Page 59



Please note that these figures: 
• are to be index linked by the BCIS General Building Cost Index from April 2020 to the date 
of payment (Apr-20 Index 360.3) 
• are valid for 3 months from the date of this letter after which they may need to be recalculated 
due to changes in district council housing trajectories, on-going planning applications, changes in 
capacities and forecast rolls, projects and build costs.  

 Justification for infrastructure provision/development contributions requested 

 

The County Council has modelled the impact of this proposal on the provision of its existing 
services and the outcomes of this process are set out in Appendices 1 - 3 below.  
…….

Secondary School Provision 

The impact of this proposal on the delivery of the County Council’s services is assessed in 
Appendix 1 

A contribution is sought based upon the additional need required, where the forecast secondary 
pupil product from new developments in the locality results in the maximum capacity of local 
secondary schools being exceeded.  

The proposal is projected to give rise to additional secondary school pupils from the date of 
occupation of this development. This need can only be met through the provision of new 
accommodation at the Mayfield Grammar school. 

Page 60



Please note where a contributing development is to be completed in phases, payment may be 
triggered through occupation of various stages of the development comprising an initial payment 
and subsequent payments through to completion of the scheme. 

The new secondary school accommodation will be provided through the expansion Mayfield 
Grammar School and delivered in accordance with the Local Planning Authority’s Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan (where available); timetable and phasing.  

Please note this process will be kept under review and may be subject to change as the Local 
Education Authority will need to ensure provision of the additional pupil spaces within the 
appropriate time and at an appropriate location. 
……. 
Community Learning 

There is an assessed shortfall in provision for this service: the current adult participation in both 
District Centres and Outreach facilities is in excess of current service capacity, as shown in 
Appendix 2, along with cost of mitigation. 

To accommodate the increased demand on KCC Adult Education service, the County Council 
requests £16.42 per dwelling (x53) towards additional resources for Adult Education “Victoria 
Centre”, Darnley Rd, Gravesend DA11 0RX, to accommodate the additional learners. 
……. 

Youth Service 

To accommodate the increased demand on KCC services the County Council requests £65.50 per 
dwelling towards additional resources for Northfleet Youth Centre, Hall Road, Northfleet, 
Gravesend, DA11 8AJ. 
………. 

Libraries  

KCC are the statutory library authority.  The library authority’s statutory duty in the Public Libraries 
and Museums Act 1964 is to provide ‘a comprehensive and efficient service’. The Local 
Government Act 1972 also requires KCC to take proper care of its libraries and archives. 

Bookstock in Gravesend Borough at 735 items per 1000 population is below the County average 
of 1134 and both the England and total UK figures of 1399 and 1492 respectively.  

 

To mitigate the impact of this development, the County Council will need to provide additional 
services, resources, and stock to meet the additional demand which will be generated by the 
people residing in these Dwellings.  

The County Council therefore requests £55.45 per household to address the direct impact of this 
development, and the additional services, resources and stock will be made available in 
Gravesend Library, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent, DA12 1BE as and when the monies are 
received.  
………. 

Social Care 
The proposed development will result in additional demand upon Social Care (SC) (older people, 
and also adults with Learning or Physical Disabilities) services, however all available care capacity 
is fully allocated already, and there is no spare capacity to meet additional demand arising from 

Page 61



this and other new developments which SC are under a statutory obligation to meet. In addition, 
the Social Care budgets are fully allocated, therefore no spare funding is available to address 
additional capital costs for social care clients generated from new developments.  

To mitigate the impact of this development, KCC Social Care requires: 

• a proportionate monetary contribution of £146.88 per household (as set out in Appendix 3) 
towards the Age UK Fleming resource Centre at Clarence Row, Gravesend DA12 1HJ.  
• The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government identified in June 2019 guidance 
Housing for older and disabled people the need to provide housing for older & disabled people is 
critical. Accessible and adaptable housing enables people to live more independently and safely. 
Accessible and adaptable housing provides safe and convenient homes with suitable circulation 
space and suitable bathroom and kitchens. Kent Social Care request these dwellings are built to 
Building Reg Part M4(2) standard to ensure they remain accessible throughout the lifetime of the 
occupants to meet any changes in the occupant’s requirements.  
………..

Waste 

Kent County Council is a statutory ‘Waste Disposal Authority’, responsible for the safe disposal of 
all household waste arising in Kent, providing Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRC) and 
Waste Transfer Stations (WTS). Each household produces an average of a quarter of a tonne of 
waste per year to be processed at HWRC’s and half a tonne per year to be processed at WTS’s. 
Existing HWRC’s and WTS’s will be over capacity by 2020 and additional housing has a significant 
impact on the manageability of waste in Kent. 

A contribution of £183.67 per household is required towards a new Waste Transfer Station to meet 
housing growth and works at Pepper Hill HWRC to increase the capacity to mitigate the impact 
from this development. 
………… 

Broadband: Fibre to the premise/gigabit capable 

The NPPF (para 112) and The Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport requires full 
fibre connection to new developments being gigabit capable fibre optic to the premise 
connection for all.  

Please include a Planning Condition to provide ‘fibre to the premise’ (FTTP) broadband 
connections to all premises of gigabit capacity. 

Developers are advised to make early contact with broadband providers, as there can be a 
lead in time for cable installation and associated infrastructure. 
………. 
Implementation 

The County Council is of the view that the above contributions comply with the provisions of CIL 
Regulation 122 and are necessary to mitigate the impacts of the proposal on the provision of those 
services for which the County Council has a statutory responsibility. Accordingly, it is requested 
that the Local Planning Authority seek a section 106 obligation with the developer/interested 
parties prior to the grant of planning permission. The obligation should also include provision for 
the reimbursement of the County Council’s legal costs, surveyors’ fees and expenses incurred in 
completing the Agreement, and County monitoring fee of £500 for each trigger within the 
Agreement. 

Would you please confirm when this application will be considered and provide us with a draft 

Page 62



copy of the Committee report prior to it being made publicly available. If you do not consider the 
contributions requested to be fair, reasonable and compliant with CIL Regulation 122, it is 
requested that you notify us immediately and allow us at least 10 working days to provide such 
additional supplementary information as may be necessary to assist your decision making process 
in advance of the Committee report being prepared and the application being determined. 

Kent Fire & Rescue

I can confirm that on this occasion it is of my opinion that the off-site access requirements of the 
Fire & Rescue Service have been met. 

On-site access is a requirement of the Building Regulations 2010 Volume 1 and 2 and must be 
complied with to the satisfaction of the Building Control Authority who will consult with the Fire and 
Rescue Service once a building Regulations Application has been submitted. 

Historic England

The Former Cinema site in Gravesend encompasses the former 1930s cinema on King Street and 
the parking lot to the south. The building has been vacant since a fire in 2009. It is located in the 
centre of Gravesend and sits within the King Street Conservation Area, with the High Street and 
Queen Street Conservation Area to the north. In the King Street Conservation Area Appraisal, the 
cinema it is noted as a key building, but also a negative issue as a prominent vacant building. 

Gravesend flourished as a medieval settlement because of its role as a port at a strategic location 
on the River Thames. The High Street is the core of Gravesend’s historic town and was laid out on 
a north/south alignment terminating at the river landing. As the town developed other major streets 
were also laid out on a north/south alignment including Queen Street with small alleys and lanes 
connecting back to the High Street, with King Street running perpendicularly to the south.  A 
hierarchy of streets with a grid like layout are therefore important characteristics of the historic 
town and the character and appearance of the conservation areas. Buildings within the 
conservation area are generally of 3 to 4 storeys with the exception of the church of St George’s 
(Grade II*) which was designed to be a focal point from within the town and in long views towards 
it from the river.  

Historic mapping shows that development between the main streets was focussed around a series 
of small yards and open spaces suggesting some commercial activity and probably low scale 
development.  While the historic townscape on the High Street, King Street and Queen Street 
remains intact (and is protected through conservation area designations) the backlands 
development which once existed on the site has now been replaced by surface car parking and 
sits outside the conservation area.

The proposal is to bring the cinema building back into use, with commercial use on the ground 
floor and six units above. This would include a roof extension set behind the parapet. Additionally, 
a separate building rising from 6 to 9 storeys would be constructed to the rear of this and would 
contain 47 residential units. The tallest elements of the scheme would be to the west and it would 
step down to the east and south-east.

We do not have concerns regarding the proposals to bring the cinema building back into use or 
the roof extension that would be required to create six units. We consider that this aspect of the 
proposal would have a positive effect, both for the building as a key building within the 
conservation area appraisal, and more broadly on the character and appearance of the King 
Street Conservation Area.  

Page 63



We think that the 6 to 9 storey building to the rear is of some concern. The 9 storey element is tall 
given that the buildings within the conservation areas in Gravesend generally lie below 4 storeys. 
We think that the tallest element would have some impact on the significance of the Grade II* St 
George’s church, as it would compete with the prominence of its spire. This would be particularly 
noticeable in longer views from the north side of the Thames. This would consequently also have 
an impact on the character and appearance of the High Street and Queen Street Conservation 
Area as appreciated in these longer views. These impacts can be seen in the Accurate Visual 
Representations in the Heritage Statement Appendix 5 viewpoint 9. 

Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out policies specific to the 
historic environment. Paragraph 184 states that heritage assets are “an irreplaceable resource; 
and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be 
enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations.” 

The NPPF goes on to require that a proposal should avoid or minimise harm to avoid conflict 
between the conservation of heritage assets and any aspect of a proposal (Paragraph 190). 

If your Council concludes that the development cannot be delivered in a less harmful form, then 
you will also need to be satisfied that the remaining harm has clear and convincing justification as 
required by Paragraph 194, before weighing the harm against the public benefits in the manner 
described in Paragraph 196. 

In reaching your decision, your Council will need to be mindful of Paragraph 193 which sets out 
the need to give great weight to the conservation of designated heritage assets (and the more 
important the asset the greater the weight should be). It notes this is irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to 
significance. 

To assist your Council’s consideration of this application, we draw your attention to Historic 
England’s Advice Note 4 on Tall Buildings which states that “if a tall building is harmful to the 
historic environment, then without a careful examination of the worth of any public benefits that the 
proposed tall building is said to deliver and of the alternative means of delivering them, the 
planning authority is unlikely to be able to find a clear and convincing justification for the 
cumulative harm” (p.10). 

In making your decision, your council should also consider the cumulative harm caused to the 
conservation areas and St George’s church by the number of tall developments that are being 
planned or proposed in Gravesend. 

We consider that the redevelopment of the cinema building would have a positive impact on the 
King Street Conservation Area and of course, for the building itself. We have some concerns 
regarding the harm caused by the 9 storey element of the new building proposed to the north of 
the existing building. We think that this would cause harm to the character and appearance of the 
High Street and Queen Street Conservation Area and to the significance of the Grade II* St 
George’s Church as it would detract from the prominence of its spire. We consider that this harm 
could be reduced by decreasing the height of the 9 storey element of the proposal in line with 
paragraph 190 of the NPPF.  

Recommendation
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds.
 We consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need to be addressed in order 
for the application to meet the requirements of paragraphs 190, 194 and 196 of the NPPF.

In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 66(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the 

Page 64



desirability of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which they possess and section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas.

Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, safeguards 
or further information as set out in our advice. If there are any material changes to the proposals, 
or you would like further advice, please contact us.

Southern Water

The attached plan shows that the proposed development is building over to an existing public foul 
sewer which will not be acceptable to Southern Water. The exact position of the public sewer must 
be determined on site by the applicant before the layout of the proposed development is finalised.  

 It might be possible to divert the sewer, so long as this would result in no unacceptable loss of 
hydraulic capacity, and the work was carried out at the developer’s expense to the satisfaction of 
Southern Water under the relevant statutory provisions. 

- The public foul sewers requires a clearance of 3 metres on either side of the gravity sewers to 
protect it from construction works and to allow for future access for maintenance. 

- No development or tree planting should be carried out within 3 metres of the external edge of the 
public gravity sewers without consent from Southern Water. 

- No soakaways, swales, ponds, watercourses or any other surface water retaining or conveying 
features should be located within 5 metres of public or adoptable gravity sewers. 

- All existing infrastructure should be protected during the course of construction works. 

Please refer to:  southernwater.co.uk/media/3011/stand-off-distances.pdf   
 
Alternatively, the applicant may wish to amend the site layout, or combine a diversion with 
amendment of the site layout. If the applicant would prefer to advance these options, items above 
also apply. 

 We have restrictions on the proposed tree planting adjacent to Southern Water sewers, rising 
mains or water mains and any such proposed assets in the vicinity of existing planting. Reference 
should be made to Southern Water's publication “A Guide to Tree Planting near water Mains and 
Sewers” (southernwater.co.uk/media/3027/ds-tree-planting-guide.pdf) and the Sewerage Sector 
Guidance (water.org.uk/sewerage-sector-guidance-approved-documents) with regards to any 
landscaping proposals and our restrictions and maintenance of tree planting adjacent to sewers, 
rising mains and water mains. 

In order to protect drainage apparatus, Southern Water requests that if consent is granted, a 
condition is attached to the planning permission; for example, the developer must advise the local 
authority (in consultation with Southern Water) of the measures which will be undertaken to divert 
the public sewers, prior to the commencement of the development. 

 Furthermore, it is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the 
development site. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, an 
investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership before any further works 
commence on site. 

Our initial investigations indicate that Southern Water can provide foul sewage disposal to service 

Page 65



the proposed development. Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the 
public foul sewer to be made by the applicant or developer. 
To make an application visit: southernwater.co.uk/developing and please read our New 
Connections Services Charging Arrangements documents which are available on our website via 
the following link: southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-charging-arrangements 

Our initial investigations indicate that there are no dedicated public surface water sewers in the 
area to serve this development. Alternative means of draining surface water from this development 
are required. Discharge of surface water runoff to public combined network can be allowed only 
once full assessment of other alternative methods have been carried out and discounted and at 
the discharge rates agreed with Southern Water as not introducing detriment to downstream 
network. Foul and surface water onsite network shall remain separate until the boundary of the 
site or final connection to public sewer. 

Alternatively, if the existing development discharges surface water to the existing combined 
system, then a discharge from the site may be permitted. The developer will be required to provide 
a topographical site survey and/or a CCTV survey showing the existing connection points, pipe 
sizes, gradients and calculations confirming the proposed surface water flow will be no greater 
than the existing contributing flows. 

In situations where surface water is being considered for discharge to our network, we require the 
below hierarchy for surface water to be followed which is reflected in part H3 of the Building 
Regulations. Whilst reuse does not strictly form part of this hierarchy, Southern Water would 
encourage the consideration of reuse for new developments. 

- Reuse 
- Infiltration 
- Watercourse 
- Strom sewer 
- Combined Sewer 

Guidance on Building Regulations is here:  
gov.uk/government/publications/drainage-and-waste-disposal-approved-document-h 

The planning application form makes reference to drainage using Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SuDS). 

Under certain circumstances SuDS will be adopted by Southern Water should this be requested 
by the developer.  Where SuDS form part of a continuous sewer system, and are not an isolated 
end of pipe SuDS component, adoption will be considered if such systems comply with the latest 
Sewers for Adoption (Appendix C) and CIRIA guidance available here: 
water.org.uk/sewerage-sector-guidance-approved-documents 

ciria.org/Memberships/The_SuDS_Manual_C753_Chapters.aspx 

Where SuDS rely upon facilities which are not adoptable by sewerage undertakers the applicant 
will need to ensure that arrangements exist for the long-term maintenance of the SuDS facilities. It 
is critical that the effectiveness of these systems is maintained in perpetuity. Good management 
will avoid flooding from the proposed surface water system, which may result in the inundation of 
the foul sewerage system.  

Thus, where a SuDS scheme is to be implemented, the drainage details submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority should: 

- Specify the responsibilities of each party for the implementation of the SuDS scheme. 

Page 66



- Specify a timetable for implementation.  

- Provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development. 

This should include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker 
and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime. 

The Council’s Building Control officers or technical staff should be asked to comment on the 
adequacy of soakaways to dispose of surface water from the proposed development. 

Land uses such as general hardstanding that may be subject to oil/petrol spillages should be 
drained by means of oil trap gullies or petrol/oil interceptors. 

We request that should this planning application receive planning approval, the following 
informative is attached to the consent: Construction of the development shall not commence until 
details of the proposed means of foul sewerage and surface water disposal have been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Southern Water. 

This initial assessment does not prejudice any future assessment or commit to any adoption 
agreements under Section 104 of the Water Industry Act 1991. Please note that non-compliance 
with Sewers for Adoption standards will preclude future adoption of the foul and surface water 
sewerage network on site. The design of drainage should ensure that no groundwater or land 
drainage is to enter public sewers. 

Our investigations indicate that Southern Water can facilitate water supply to service the proposed 
development. Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the water supply to 
be made by the applicant or developer. 

To make an application visit: southernwater.co.uk/developing and please read our New 
Connections Services Charging Arrangements documents which are available on our website via 
the following link: southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-charging-arrangements 

For further advice, please contact Southern Water, Southern House, Yeoman Road, Worthing, 
West Sussex, BN13 3NX (Tel: 0330 303 0119). Website: southernwater.co.uk or by email at: 
SouthernWaterPlanning@southernwater.co.uk 

Natural England

Since this application will result in a net increase in residential accommodation, impacts to the 
coastal Special Protection Area(s) and Ramsar Site(s) may result from increased recreational 
disturbance. Your authority has measures in place to manage these potential impacts through the 
agreed strategic solution which we consider to be ecologically sound. 

Subject to the appropriate financial contribution being secured, Natural England is satisfied that 
the proposal will mitigate against the potential recreational impacts of the development on the 
site(s). However, our advice is that this proposed development, and the application of these 
measures to avoid or reduce the likely harmful effects from it, may need to be formally checked 
and confirmed by your Authority, as the competent authority, via an appropriate assessment in 
view of the European Site’s conservation objectives and in accordance with the Conservation of 
Habitats & Species Regulations 2017. 

This is because Natural England notes that the recent People Over Wind Ruling by the Court of 
Justice of the European Union concluded that, when interpreting article 6(3) of the Habitats 
Directive, it is not appropriate when determining whether or not a plan or project is likely to have a 

Page 67

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/category/6490068894089216
http://curia.europa.eu/juris/document/document.jsf?docid=200970&doclang=EN


significant effect on a site and requires an appropriate assessment, to take account of measures 
intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of the plan or project on that site. The ruling also 
concluded that such measures can however be considered during an appropriate assessment to 
determine whether a plan or project will have an adverse effect on the integrity of the European 
site. Your Authority should have regard to this and may wish to seek its own legal advice to fully 
understand the implications of this ruling in this context.

Natural England advises that it is a matter for your Authority to decide whether an appropriate 
assessment of this proposal is necessary in light of this ruling. In accordance with the 
Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017, Natural England must be consulted on any 
appropriate assessment your Authority may decide to make.

Natural England has not assessed this application for impacts on protected species. Natural 
England has published Standing Advice which you can use to assess impacts on protected 
species or you may wish to consult your own ecology services for advice. 

We recommend referring to our SSSI Impact Risk Zones (available on Magic and as a 
downloadable dataset) prior to consultation with Natural England. Further guidance on when to 
consult Natural England on planning and development proposals is available on gov.uk at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-planning-authorities-get-environmental-ad

Kent Police Designing Out Crime Officer

We have reviewed this application in regard to Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design 
(CPTED) and in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  

Applicants/agents should consult us as Designing out Crime Officers (DOCO’s) to address CPTED 
and incorporate Secured By Design (SBD) as appropriate. We use details of the site, relevant 
crime levels/type and intelligence information to help design out the opportunity for Crime, Fear of 
Crime, Anti-Social Behavior (ASB), Nuisance and Conflict.  

We refer to our previous pre-consultation letter dated 18/08/2020 and have repeated those 
comments with possible amendments in italics below. 

With regard to this planning application. Provided the undercroft area and access to the parking 
court and pedestrian routes to the residential side door of the northern block of 47 flats and the 
residential access door to the southern block of 6 units are protected with access controlled 
automated vehicle gates and an access controlled pedestrian gate, we have no objection to this 
proposal. However, without these  gates and possible additional fencing and gating to protect 
each side of the northern block, we would be unable to recommend approval of this proposal in its 
current layout, in the interests of security. Please see points below. 

New DOCO Comment: We note from the Design and Access Statement (DAS) and the proposed 
ground floor plan (drawing number 20.029 200-031 Rev P0) that no gates are indicated as 
detailed 
above. With this in mind, we are unfortunately unable to recommend approval of this proposal in 
its 
current layout, in the interests of security. 

1. We recommend the use of the Secured By Design (SBD) Homes 2019 and SBD Commercial 
2015 initiatives and specifications for this proposal. 

 New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/protected-species-and-sites-how-to-review-planning-proposals
http://www.magic.gov.uk/
https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/sssi-impact-risk-zones-england?geometry=-32.18%2C48.014%2C27.849%2C57.298
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-planning-authorities-get-environmental-ad


2. Perimeter, boundary and including lockable gates. The sides of the northern block of 47 units 
may require gating or fencing, to prevent anyone gaining access along the side elevations, to 
reach the parking areas. The gating and fencing will need to be at the start of the building line of 
the Brewhouse Yard elevation. Automated and access controlled vehicle gates, along with an 
access controlled pedestrian gate, with full audio visual access control systems to both blocks, will 
be required to protect the undercroft parking areas and access routes, please see point 5 below. 

New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

There appears to be a secondary residential entrance into the core area of the northern block of 
47 units, under the undercroft route to the parking area. Whilst this may not be the main entrance, 
it is potentially vulnerable given its location. As such, it is very important that the vehicle and 
pedestrian gates are installed as detailed above and in point 3 below. 

 New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

3. Parking inc. visitor. There are 23 proposed parking spaces for the development, accessed via 
Brewhouse Yard, this does not appear to be sufficient for the 53 flats proposed. It is important that 
spaces are allocated appropriately, to avoid potential neighbour disputes or conflicts in the future.   

New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

The northern block of 47 flats is built over the vehicle access route to the parking area, and the 
pedestrian route to the southern block residential entrance. There appear to be 12 car parking 
spaces in the undercroft area (plus refuse access area) and a further 11 spaces in the open. 
Undercroft parking areas can attract all kinds of crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB) and I 
strongly recommend that automated access controlled vehicle gates are installed to protect the 
parking areas. An access controlled pedestrian gate (with full audio visual access control system) 
will also be required to allow residents access via the parking court, to the entrance for the 6 flats 
proposed above the existing building (11-12 King Street) in the southern block. 

New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

To help address vehicle crime, security should be provided for Motorbikes, Mopeds, Electric 
bikes and similar. Ground or wall anchors can help provide this. 

New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

4. Lighting. Please note, whilst we are not qualified lighting engineers, any lighting plan should be 
approved by a professional lighting engineer (e.g. a Member of the ILP), particularly where a 
lighting condition is imposed, to help avoid conflict and light pollution. Bollard lighting should be 
avoided, SBD Homes 2019 states:  

“18.3 Bollard lighting is purely for wayfinding and can be easily obscured. It does not project 
sufficient light at the right height making it difficult to recognise facial features and as a result 
causes an increase in the fear of crime. It should be avoided.” 

General lighting comment. Lighting of all roads including main, side roads, cul de sacs and car 
parking areas should be to BS5489-1:2020 in accordance with SBD and the British Parking 
Association (BPA) Park Mark Safer Parking Scheme specifications and standards.  

Any lack of lighting for unadopted roads is a concern as it will encourage home and vehicle 
owners to install ad-hoc lighting, likely to cause conflict and light pollution. A professional Kent 
Police lighting engineer will be able to design a plan to aid security without risking light pollution, a 

Page 69



dual solution is possible.  

New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

5. Access Control. Full audio visual door entry access control systems will be required for both the 
northern and southern blocks. 

New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

6. Doorsets. Doorsets for both blocks should be certified to PAS24:2016 for all communal 
entrances/exits, individual front doorsets for each apartment, any easily accessible doorsets such 
as balconies. 

New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

7. Windows. Windows all ground floor and any easily accessible windows (e.g. balconies) should 
be certified to PAS24:2016. Laminated glazing is recommended.  

New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

8. Security Compartmentation. Full security compartmentation will be required for the proposed 
northern block of 47 flats. Residents should only be able to reach the floor where their flat is 
located. 

 New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

Stair and lift core. It is unclear from the plans how the stair and lift core for the northern block of 47 
units is laid out. The ground floor plan shows the entrance to the side of the two ground floor flats, 
however, as the floors rise, the plans do not appear to show the cores at each level, unless this is 
indicated by the ‘void’ area in the middle of each floor. We appreciate the plans maybe indicative 
at this time. As stated above, it is important that security compartmentation is installed at all levels. 

 New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

 9. Roof top balcony. It is unclear if the roof top balcony at level 6 will be for the use of all residents 
of the northern block or if it is a private balcony or will be split into several private balconies. It is 
very important that the height of the safety roof boundary treatment (e.g. railings, glass screens 
etc) is sufficient to prevent falling, particularly if this is a shared balcony. If shared, we recommend 
that the treatment be 1.8m in height. It is unclear how the balcony is accessed, however we 
appreciate the plans maybe indicative at this time.  

New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

Roof top balconies level 7 and 8. These appear to be private, please see comments re level 6 
above.  

 New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

10. Cycle stores.  

New DOCO Comment: Both cycle stores (undercroft and external), should conform to SBD Homes 
2019. Neither cycle store appears to have doors or gates and these should be installed as an 
added layer of security, particularly if the main pedestrian/vehicle access into the parking area is to 
remain ungated and without access control measures. 

Page 70



11. Bin Stores. The bin store should have lockable doors and be lit as bins can be used to commit 
crime, ASB, be a place to hide and even be a potential arson hazard. The commercial and 
residential bin storage areas should be separated if not already the case.  

New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. Bin stores, should conform to SBD 
Homes 2019. 

 12. Mail delivery. Mail delivery will need to be considered for both blocks of flats. Exterior mail 
boxes negate the need for anyone delivering mail to enter the building. Exterior mail boxes should 
be certified to TS009 security specifications. A through the wall system (if space allows) also 
negates the need for anyone delivery mail to enter the building. If internal mail boxes are installed 
in the lobby, additional access controlled doorsets will be required to protect the stair core. It 
should not be possible for anyone delivering mail to access other parts of the building. 

 New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

 New DOCO Comment re Public Amenity Space. 

It is unclear if the proposed public amenity space is for residents and/or non-residents. We 
strongly recommend that this area is for the use of residents only to reduce the opportunities for 
crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB).  

13. If approved, site security is required for the construction phase.  There is a duty for the 
principle contractor “to take reasonable steps to prevent access by unauthorised persons to the 
construction site” under the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2007. The site 
security should incorporate plant, machinery, supplies, tools and other vehicles and be site 
specific to geography and site requirements.  

New DOCO Comment: Previous comment remains valid. 

We welcome a discussion with the applicant/agent about site specific designing out crime.  

If the points above are not addressed, they can affect the development and local policing. Current 
levels of reported crime have been taken into account. 

This information is provided by Kent Police DOCO’s and refers to situational crime prevention. 
This advice focuses on CPTED and Community Safety with regard to this specific planning 
application. 

Highways England

Referring to the notification of a planning application dated 11 May 2021 referenced above, in the 
vicinity of the A2 that forms part of the Strategic Road Network, notice is hereby given that 
Highways England’s formal recommendation is that we: 

 a) offer no objection*;
*This is on the basis that the proposals will generate minimal additional traffic on the SRN in Peak 
Hours. We therefore consider that the development will not materially affect the safety, reliability 
and / or operation of the SRN (the tests set out in DfT C2/13 paras 8 to 11 and MHCLG NPPF 
paras 108 to 111), in this location. 

Highways Act Section 175B is not relevant to this application.1 

HIGHWAYS ENGLAND (“we”) have been appointed by the Secretary of State for Transport as 
strategic highway company under the provisions of the Infrastructure Act 2015 and is the highway 

Page 71



authority, traffic authority and street authority for the Strategic Road Network (SRN). The SRN is a 
critical national asset and as such we work to ensure that it operates and is managed in the public 
interest, both in respect of current activities and needs as well as in providing effective 
stewardship of its long-term operation and integrity. 

This represents Highways England’s formal recommendation (prepared by the Area 5 Spatial 
Planning Team) and is made available to the Department for Transport as per the terms of our 
Licence. 

Should the Local Planning Authority disagree with any recommendation made under b), c) or d) 
above, the application must not be determined before they have: 
i) informed Highways England; and 
ii) consulted the Secretary of State for Transport, as per the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Affecting Trunk Roads) Direction 2018, via 
transportplanning@dft.gov.uk. 

Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 

EDC has no detailed comments to make on the proposed development, but request that 
consideration is given to how it should contribute to local sustainable transport improvement 
schemes such as delivery of the planned Fastrack bus route between Northfleet Embankment and 
Gravesend Town Centre. 

Theatres Trust

This application has come to the attention of the Trust because the development site is the former 
Majestic/ABC/EMD Cinema.  

The Majestic opened in 1931 with a capacity of almost 1,800 and was equipped with a stage and 
dressing rooms as well as a café.  It was said to be ornately decorated and provided high levels of 
comfort for audiences.  It changed hands a number of times and the auditorium was sub-divided in 
1972.  Cinema use eventually ceased in 2002 after which it was used as a church for four years 
until it was badly damaged by a fire.  Most of the building had to be demolished, but the Palladium-
style Portland stone façade remains.   

The façade makes a positive contribution to the streetscape and local character and is 
recognisable as a cinema or theatre, serving as a visual reminder of the site’s social history and 
significance for local people in and around Gravesend.  We welcome that it will be retained, 
restored and brought back to use with a commercial unit on the ground floor and residential above.  
We have no objection to the addition of an upper floor which will be slightly set back.   

We have no comment on the overall scale of development or to the land uses and mix of units 
proposed.  We do however support retention of the historic façade.  Should the development be 
amended or refused we would be keen to see this element retained in any future scheme.  
      
Environment Agency

Thank you for consulting us on the above application. We do not have any objections subject to 
the following planning conditions being applied to any planning permission granted.  

The previous commercial use of these buildings/land may have left contamination which could 
impact on the proposed development. An assessment into the past uses of buildings/land and any 
potential risks arising from the buildings/grounds for the proposed end use should be carried out 
prior to the change of use and/or development works proposed. In particular investigations should 
take account of any oil/fuel storage tanks, septic tanks, drainage systems, and materials storage. 

Page 72



Any identified risks should be fully evaluated, if necessary by intrusive investigations, and 
appropriately addressed prior to the commencement of the development. 

We consider that planning permission could be granted to the proposed development as 
submitted if the following planning conditions are included as set out below. Without these 
conditions, the proposed development on this site may pose an unacceptable risk to the 
environment and we could object to the application. 

Condition  
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site 
then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority) 
shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this contamination will be dealt with 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation 
strategy shall be implemented as approved. 

Reasons 
To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable risk from, or 
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously unidentified 
contamination sources at the development site in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

The design of infiltration Sustainable Drainage Systems may be difficult or inappropriate in this 
location. We therefore request that the following planning condition is included in any permission 
granted. Without this condition we would object to the proposal in line with paragraph 170 of the 
National Planning Policy 
Framework because it cannot be guaranteed that the development will not be put at unacceptable 
risk from, or be adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution. 

Condition 
No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the express 
written consent of the local planning authority, which may be given for those parts of the site 
where it has been demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approval details. 

Reasons 
The site overlies an principal aquifer. 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that the planning system should contribute to 
and enhance the natural and local environment by preventing both new and existing development 
from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by 
unacceptable levels of water pollution. 

Drainage from car parking for more than 20 cars would not be permitted without full pollution 
prevention measures being designed into the system.

5.2 Neighbouring properties

196 surrounding properties were consulted plus site and press notices (displayed at three 
locations – King Street frontage, Brewhouse Yard frontage and Queen Street at entrance to 
Brewhouse Yard) – with an overall consultation expiry date of 18 June - 3 responses received (all 
objections), the comments of which can be summarised as follows:

Character and Appearance including Heritage
 Overdevelopment of the site 
 Size and height of the building will spoil the roofline of King Street 

Page 73



 The ground floor use in King Street should be of benefit to the town which the proposed 
‘residents workhub would not

 Gravesend has no history or entertainment left in the town, why invest in building flats if 
there’s no reason to live here;

 The façade is a landmark in Gravesend and should remain untouched

Use
 Flats is not in the best interest of the building or the public
 With no entertainment in the town the site should have a cinema re-built with other 

entertainment 
 The town is dying with the big names and small businesses disappearing, need to invest in 

them and the focus on rejuvenating the high street, not flats and ‘workspaces’.

Affordable housing
 Applicant says that there will be no room for affordable housing in the proposed 

development - that is exactly what is needed in the area of the Town Centre. 

Parking
 30+ car parking spaces for a development in the town centre seems excessive given that 

there is public transport easily accessible; bus stops and trains are a few minutes away, 
even when new bus hub built

 Access to the proposed development will be via Queen Street and Brewhouse Yard -
Queen Street is already a busy street for vehicles, which will be made worse if the 
application is permitted

 22 parking spaces is insufficient for 47 flats as most households have 2 cars

Reference to other applications
 Application appears to have been submitted on the back of and to take advantage of the 

major development in and around Horn Yard which was recently given approval by the 
Council

 The development in Horn Yard will provide plenty of the type of accommodation proposed 
in this application

6. Service Manager (Planning) Comments

Housing Need

6.1 Policy CS02 (LPCS) sets out the Borough’s objectively assessed need for housing over 
the Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that there is a need for at least 6,170 new 
dwellings during the period. Evidence now available shows that the Council is not able to 
demonstrate a five-year housing supply (a 3.27 year supply has most recently been 
calculated within the statement published here), and as the delivery of housing was 
substantially below (less than 75%) that required by the Housing Delivery Test, the 
housing delivery element of Policy CS02 (LPCS) must be regarded to be out of date, as 
required by the Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF (2021).

6.2 This requires that in regard to housing development, planning permission should be 
granted unless: 
“the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular  
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.”

Page 74

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/189288/5-Year-Housing-Land-Supply-Statement-2020-2025.pdf


6.3 In the Gravesham context, the policies referred to in paragraph 11(d)(i) above are those 
set out in the NPPF (2021) at footnote 7 (rather than those in development plans) relating 
to any of the following:

 Sites of Special Scientific Interest; 
 Green Belt; 
 Local Green Space; 
 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty;
 Irreplaceable habitats; 
 Designated heritage assets (and other heritage assets of archaeological interest 

referred to in footnote 67); and
 Areas at risk of flooding or coastal change.

6.4 In determining applications for planning permission involving housing, the Council will 
therefore apply a weighted balance in favour of granting planning permission in 
accordance with relevant case law and guidance, having regard to the acceptability or 
otherwise of the proposals when evaluated against development plan policy, the need to 
make efficient use of land (paragraph 124 of the NPPF (2021)) in context, the relative 
contribution the proposal makes towards the alleviation of any shortfall in housing delivery 
at that time and any other considerations material to the proposed development.

6.5 The proposed development would provide a net increase of 53 flats, which would offer a 
notable contribution towards meeting local housing need and, accordingly, this weighs in 
support of the application.  The NPPF (2021) also encourages the effective use of land in 
meeting the need for homes.  However, this has to be balanced against safeguarding and 
improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions, matters which 
are sought throughout the NPPF (2021), including in particular the requirement for 
development to maintain an area’s prevailing character and setting; achieve high quality 
buildings and places; add to the overall quality of the area, be visually attractive, and 
create a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.  These matters will be 
considered further.

Principle of Development

6.6 In regards to the principles of development, Policy CS02 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy (LPCS) prioritises development in the urban area as a sustainable location for 
development. It seeks to achieve this by promoting regeneration by prioritising 
redevelopment and recycling of previously developed land. 

6.7 The application site consists of a vacant building with a previous cinema use and vacant site 
to the rear. The site meets the definition of Previously Developed Land as stated in Annex 2 
of the NPPF (2019).

6.8 The site lies within Gravesend Town Centre Opportunity Area (sub-area 3.1 Town Centre).  
In the pre-amble to Policy CS05 (LPCS) it is stated that the former cinema site on King Street 
is one of a number of sites which may be developed in this sub-area during the plan period 
and which has the potential for retail units, offices and residential on the upper floors.  

6.9 Policy CS05 (LPCS) states that within the Opportunity Area, the Council will amongst other 
things, support and enhance retail, leisure, entertainment, cultural and tourism provision in 
accordance with the sequential approach, support the provision of new offices in accordance 
with the sequential approach, support the provision of new residential development where a 
satisfactory living environment can be achieved, support the redevelopment of under-used 
sites where this makes more efficient  use of the sites and improves townscape character 
and support existing retail, commercial and service functions on the ground floors and the 

Page 75



provision of offices and residential uses on upper floors subject to achieving a satisfactory 
living environment.  

6.10 With this proposal the commercial use at ground floor on the main building fronting King 
Street and the residential uses on the upper floors and the building to the rear would be 
compatible with the uses specified as acceptable in the Opportunity Area.  In respect of the 
redevelopment of under-used sites, this site is considered under-used but its redevelopment 
would be subject to addressing the requirements of the Development Plan and material 
considerations such as the NPPF and in particular whether the proposal would improve 
townscape character which is a key consideration to be assessed in this application.  

6.11 As such it is considered this proposal partially complies with Policy CS05 (LPCS) in that it 
would provide a commercial use at ground floor with residential above and to the rear of the 
site. It would bring this underused site back into use but this Policy CS05 also requires 
satisfactory living conditions to be achieved and townscape character to be improved, as 
discussed later within the report these requirements are not met.

6.12 The key issues to be considered are as follows:
● Design, Character and appearance (Including Heritage)
● Sustainability
● Amenity of Future Occupiers
● Neighbouring Amenity
● Open Space
● Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 
● Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking
● Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
● Contaminated Land
● Ecology and Biodiversity
● Planning Obligations/Affordable Housing
● Financial Considerations

Design, Character and Appearance (including Heritage)

6.14 When considering the design of this proposal, it needs to be considered against the relevant 
local and national planning policy.  Policy CS14 (LPCS) states that new housing 
development will be expected to provide a range of dwelling types and sizes taking into 
account the existing character of the area and to create sustainable and balanced 
communities. Policy CS15 (LPCS) states that sites will be developed at a variety of densities 
depending on the sites location and accessibility to public transport.  Furthermore, 
development needs to be delivered at a density that achieves good design and does not 
compromise the character of the area.

 
6.15 Policy CS19 (LPCS) states that the design, layout and form of new development will be 

derived from a robust analysis of local context and character and will make a positive 
contribution to the street scene, the quality of the public realm and the character of the area. 
The NPPF (2021) sets out that the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable 
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but over the 
lifetime of the development.

6.16 In considering this proposal, the impact on heritage assets also needs to be considered. 
Section 72(1) of the Act requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving 
or enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area and section 66(1) of the 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires special regard to the desirability 
of preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 

Page 76



interest which it possesses when considering whether to grant planning permission.  

6.17 These duties are reflected in Section 16 of the NPPF (2019), Policy CS20 (LPCS) and saved 
policies TC2 and TC3 (LPFR).  These policies set out that the Council will accord a high 
priority towards the preservation, protection and enhancement of its heritage and historic 
environment as a non-renewable resource central to the regeneration of the area and the 
reinforcement of sense of place.  Furthermore, these policies expect development to make a 
positive contribution to Conservation Areas.

618 As previously stated, the front part of the site which faces onto King Street is located within 
the King Street Conservation Area.  The rear part of the site is not within a Conservation 
Area but adjacent to both the King Street and High Street & Queen Street Conservation 
Areas.  The King Street Conservation Area Appraisal 2009 identifies the part of the site 
fronting King Street as a positive building in the Conservation Area. 

6.19 In the vicinity, there are a number of listed buildings including County Court and K2 and K6 
telephone boxes opposite the site in King Street, No. 30 King Street at the junction with King 
Street and Windmill Street, the public library, Windmill Street, The New Inn, 1 Milton Road, St 
Johns Church, Milton Road and adjoining properties to the south of this, no. 26 Queen 
Street, the statue of Queen Victoria in the Borough Market, the Old Town Hall and a number 
of other buildings in the High Street and St George’s Church to the north-west. 

6.20 This proposal essentially consists of two elements.  The repair, restoration, extension and 
repurposing of the facade of the former cinema building fronting King Street to provide a 
residents workhub at ground floor level and six flats above and the erection of a new building 
to the rear standing between part 6 and part 9 storeys to provide forty seven flats making fifty 
three overall. 

6.21 The proposed scheme is shown in the following visuals:

Elevation from King Street

Page 77



View of rear of building fronting King Street

Elevation from Brewhouse Yard

Page 78



View of rear of building fronting Brewhouse Yard

Elevation of of proposed building fronting Brewhouse Yard from Queen Street

6.22 A pre-application enquiry was submitted by the applicant prior to this application 
(PRE20200252).  This was for restoration and extension of the existing building to provide a 
commercial unit at ground floor and six flats above.  The proposal at the rear was for a new 
part seven and part nine storey building to provide 47 flats. As part of the pre-application 
enquiry, the Council in terms of Design and Heritage advised that the proposal for the 
building fronting King Street, whilst offering a modern approach, was considered to be well 
designed referencing the gables found elsewhere in King Street.  With regards the proposed 

Page 79



new building at the rear of the site fronting Brewhouse Yard, concerns were raised regarding 
the proposals height, scale, bulk and massing, as this would be out of keeping with 
Brewhouse Yard and its surroundings, as well as further away views.  With the general scale 
of buildings and street width in Brewhouse Yard it was considered that to erect  up to a nine 
storey building would be completely out of keeping with the scale and built form of it and its 
surroundings and would also appear dominant in wider townscape views.  

6.23 The agent advises in the Planning Statement how the concerns from the pre-application 
enquiry have been responded to in the proposed scheme.  It is stated that the proposal in 
this current planning application would see a ‘stepped building standing between 6 and 9 
storeys in height.  As can be seen on the accompanying drawings and Design and Access 
Statement, at its tallest point the proposed residential building would only be two storeys 
higher than the demolished cinema and has a tumbling roofline that drops down towards the 
level of the adjoining building to the east.’…’A key characteristic of Queen Street is the 
varying building heights and the proposal will continue this theme.  Whilst the Council voiced 
concerns over the height of this building in pre-application discussions, the height is 
considered acceptable and reflects the evolving nature of Gravesend town centre.’  

6.24 The agent also refers to a number of other permissions in the surrounding area and advises 
that ‘the local permission for significant development proposals are clear material 
considerations which are relevant to the consideration of this planning application. They 
make clear that Gravesend town centre, as part of a wider Opportunity Area, is evolving 
significantly and that the development of taller buildings can successfully be accommodated 
in the townscape without unacceptable heritage impacts’.  A Townscape Visual Assessment 
(TVA) has been undertaken to show the effect of the proposed development in addition to 
cumulative effects with The Charter development (included in the Heritage and Townscape 
Assessment).  

6.25 The below images from the drawings and documents submitted with the application help to 
demonstrate the proposal.  The first image shows the proposed rear building with the outline 
of the former cinema building also shown (in red) in the Brewhouse Yard elevation:

6.26 The below are images from the Townscape Visual Assessment:

Page 80



 
View from Brewhouse Yard near junction with Queen Street looking north – Existing and proposed 
(in blue)

View from Crooked Lane– Existing, Proposed (in blue), with The Charter shown (in pink)

 
View from Tilbury Fort Public Footpath, looking south – Existing, Proposed (in blue) and with The 
Charter development shown (in pink)

Page 81



View from Windmill Hill looking north – Existing, Proposed (in blue) and with The Charter 
development shown (in pink)

Map showing LIDAR Zone of Theoretical Visibility Plan (coloured areas show where the high 
development fronting Brewhouse Yard would be visible from)

6.27 The proposed development for the building fronting King Street is considered to be 
sympathetic in relation to the bulk of the new storey and additions and alterations to the rear.  
The building heights in King Street on the north side vary from two to five so the resultant 
three storey building would not be out of keeping or overbearing.  It is pleasing to see the 
façade of the cinema building would be repaired and brought back into an active frontage.  

Page 82



Views of building fronting King Street

Views of building fronting Brewhouse Yard

6.28 Turning to the building at the rear, this would be located where the auditorium for the cinema 
once stood and would front onto Brewhouse Yard. As well as the submitted drawings the 
applicant has submitted several detailed documents to explain the proposal and assess the 
impact on townscape and heritage, these include Planning Statement, Design and Access 
Statement and Heritage and Townscape Assessment (including Townscape Visual 
Assessment).

6.29 The applicant’s views on the proposal can be summarised as:
 Only two storeys higher than the demolished cinema building;
 Tumbling roofline that drops down towards the level of the adjoining building to the east;
 Recessed balcony design from 4th floor up creates impression of a split in the building to help 

break up the massing;
 Carefully designed to create a balance between old and new uses simplified traditional 

materials;
 Represents a very high quality development that positively responds to and respects its 

surroundings including the nearby Conservation Areas.
 Key characteristic of the Queen Street Conservation Area is varying building heights and the 

proposal will continue this theme, whilst the Council voiced concerns over the height of the 
building in pre-application discussions, the height is considered acceptable and reflects the 
evolving nature of Gravesend town centre;

 It is important to take into account the recent approval at the nearby The Charter (Ref: 
20200343) which was granted permission for a 10 storey building.

6.30 The Townscape Visual Assessment finds that:
 There would be no important levels of effect on townscape or views;

Page 83



 One localised area on King Street would experience moderate effects on townscape;
 Effects on other parts of King Street and King Street Conservation Area will experience no 

greater than minor effects and these will be neutral;
 The viewpoint from Bernard Street is predicted to experience minor adverse effects but whilst 

the proposed development will be a distinct contrast to the townscape in this location in 
terms of scale, the skyline effects are partly mitigated by the stepped form, glazed upper 
storey and green roofs;

 Other view points from Crooked Lane, Tilbury Fort and Windmill Hill are predicted to 
experience a moderate beneficial change to townscape and views;

 The effect on the townscape character of the site itself is considered to be moderately 
beneficial given the low sensitively of the site and its derelict character.  

6.31 The Heritage Impact Assessment finds that:
 There would be no impact on the King Street or Riverside Conservation Areas;
 There would be a low level of substantial harm to the High Street & Queen Street 

Conservation Area;
 In terms of listed buildings, there would be no impact on any apart from a low level of less 

than substantial harm to St George’s Church;
 The less than substantial harm should be weighed against both the heritage benefits and the 

wider public benefits;
 In addition, the effects do not take into consideration the permitted scheme of The Charter to 

the north which will significantly change the context of the Gravesend town centre 
conservation areas and other heritage assets. The effects from the development would be 
much reduced as the visual effects would be mitigated by The Charter development.  

Google Earth images of Brewhouse Yard

6.32 As described earlier in the report, Brewhouse Yard is a narrow street where the general 
predominance of built form steps down from the three storey buildings found nearer the 
entrance to the two storey buildings along its main length. The subservient nature of 
Brewhouse Yard is not only marked by the heights of its buildings but also the street width 
which is narrow and becomes narrower still towards its very end (given that access by an 
alleyway through to the High Street was previously there).  Queen Street itself is also a 
narrow road.  The application site is fully visible from ground floor up from Queen Street.

Page 84



Google Earth images of Queen Street  

6.33 It is accepted that the former cinema building had a large bulk and massing but this was very 
much related to its function, a fire in 2009 resulted in significant damage to this building with 
its subsequent demolition, as such the previous cinema building has not formed part of the 
Borough’s townscape for a significant period of time, approx. ten years.  It also cannot be 
said that the previous cinema building respected the scale of Brewhouse Yard or its 
surroundings, but on the contrary it overwhelmed neighbouring development and harmed the 
Borough’s townscape.  This proposal has not used the former cinema building as a 
maximum point of built form however, but has gone further by proposing a 6-9 storey building 
which would be of even greater height, bulk and massing.  Although it is argued by the 
applicant that the proposed building would be only two storeys greater in height than the 
former cinema building, it is considered that to construct a building of this scale would only 
serve to cause harm by overly dominating Brewhouse Yard and views from Queen Street.   

6.34 Whilst the previous cinema building was larger than other buildings in Brewhouse Yard, this 
was the rear of the building which ‘backed onto’ Brewhouse Yard and was a building which 
had a simple streamlined elevation to present a fairly non-descript elevation to the 
streetscene, so despite its size it was not attempting to be an active building in Brewhouse 
Yard.  In this case, given this is a proposal for a new building and one which would actively 
front Brewhouse Yard, its scale would be expected to respect that of Brewhouse Yard.  

6.35 Although the building is stepped down to the east, due to its height, bulk and massing it 
would still be significantly larger than any of the surrounding buildings in Brewhouse Yard 
towering over the street, which is accentuated by the narrow nature of Brewhouse Yard.  The 
size, form and materials of the building does not respect its surroundings.  It is considered 
that the proposed building due to its size and overwhelming nature would cause harm to the 
setting of the adjacent High Street & Queen Street Conservation Area.   

6.36 The proposed development due to its height, bulk and massing would be visible from a 
number of other locations and appear extremely dominant in wider townscape views as 
evident in the proposed visualisations in the Townscape Visual Assessment.  As well as 
existing and proposed views, the visualisations also show a cumulative view to include The 
Charter development.  As shown in the Townscape Visual Assessment from Crooked Lane 
and Tilbury Fort the building would be clearly visible in the proposed views but would be 
largely screened in the cumulative view including by The Charter which is currently under 
construction.  From Windmill Hill looking to the site the proposed building would be clearly 
visible and would not be obscured by The Charter development.  The Charter development 
would be taller but the bulk of the buildings would be very similar. 

6.37 The Council’s Conservation Architect raises concerns that as well as the impact on 
Brewhouse Yard, when viewed from a distance the proposal will impact on the collective 
views of the church spires and clocktower which form important historic townscape features 
within their respective conservation areas (High Street & Queen Street, King Street and 

Page 85



Harmer Street).  Historic England also have concerns at the proposed new building.  They 
consider that the building is tall given the other buildings in the Conservation Areas in 
Gravesend generally lie below four storeys in height.  They argue that the tallest nine storey 
element of the building would have some impact on the significance of the Grade II* listed St 
George’s church as it would compete with the prominence of its spire and this would be 
particularly noticeable in longer views from the north side of the Thames. This would 
consequently impact on the character and appearance of the High Street & Queen Street 
Conservation Area as appreciated in those longer views as shown in the supporting 
Townscape Visual Assessment.  

6.38 It is considered that as well as the impact which the proposed development would have at an 
immediate streetscene level in Brewhouse Yard, the views of the site from Queen Street and 
the resultant impact this would have on the setting of the High Street & Queen Street 
Conservation Area, the proposed building would also cause an impact on the wider 
townscape in terms of longer distance views.  From the north of the Thames the undulating 
townscape of Gravesend is seen with the spire of St George’s church (grade II* listed), St 
John’s (grade II listed) and the Methodist Church both in Milton Road visible.  From Windmill 
Hill to the north, all spires are visible plus the spire of Gravesend clock tower.  Whilst there 
are modern intrusions into the townscape most notably 1a-1b New Road, as well as what will 
be The Charter development (Ref. 20200343) which will conceal parts of the proposed new 
building from certain viewpoints, it is still considered the proposed building due to its height 
and bulk would have an adverse impact on the townscape.  This would be by way of 
introducing a monolithic built form which would effectively be as tall as the top of the spire of 
St George’s church, thereby competing with its prominence and that of the wider Gravesend 
townscape including other spires, most notably both from across the river and from Windmill 
Hill.  As such it is considered the proposal would also be harmful in wider townscape terms 
and as a result to the setting of the respective conservation areas that the spires would be 
contained in (High Street & Queen Street, King Street and Harmer Street).  

6.39 In respect of design, character and heritage it is considered the proposed new building to the 
rear due to its height, bulk and massing would be an overly dominant form of development 
which would be out of keeping with the scale and character of the immediate locality and the 
wider townscape and roofscape of Gravesend.  It would have an adverse impact on the 
setting of the Grade II* listed St George’s Church, the grade II listed St Johns Church, the 
Grade II listed clock tower and the Methodist Church due to competing with the prominence 
of their spires and would impact on the setting of the High Street and would have a harmful 
impact on the setting of the High Street & Queen Street, King Street and Harmer Street.  

6.40 The applicant’s view as set out in the Townscape Visual Assessment is that the proposal has 
no harm to low level of less than substantial harm on the historic environment. 

6.41 In a recently handed down judgment in R.(oao James Hall and Company Limited) v City of 
Bradford Metropolitan District Council and Co-Operative Group Limited [2019] EWHC 2899 
(Admin). The Learned Judge clarified a number of important points concerning heritage 
policies. Firstly, the Court held that there are only three gradations of harm in heritage terms, 
‘in my judgment the three categories of harm recognised in the NPPF are clear. There is 
substantial harm, less than substantial harm and no harm. There are no other grades or 
categories of harm, and it is inevitable that each of the categories of substantial harm, and 
less than substantial harm will cover a broad range of harm.’ The Court went on to say that 
even limited or negligible harm was enough to fall within the bracket of less than substantial 
harm. ‘It will be a matter of planning judgement as to the point at which a particular degree of 
harm moves from substantial to less than substantial, but it is equally the case that there will 
be a number of types of harm that will fall into less than substantial, including harm which 
might otherwise be described as very much less than substantial. There is no intermediate 
bracket at the bottom end of the less than substantial category of harm for something which 

Page 86



is limited, or even negligible, but nevertheless has a harmful impact. The fact that the harm 
may be limited or negligible will plainly go to the weight to be given to it as recognised in 
Paragraph 193 NPPF. However, in my judgment, minimal harm must fall to be considered 
within the category of less than substantial harm.’

6.42 On balance it is considered that the level of harm on the historic environment is less than 
substantial. In such circumstances the NPPF (2021) at paragraph 202 advises that the harm 
is to be weighed against the public benefits of a proposal including where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use.  In this case the site is vacant and the proposal would bring 
the site back into use providing a work hub and residential uses, would provide 53 flats, 
economic benefits from the construction and occupation of the development and the 
restoration of the remains of the façade and remains of the cinema building.  However, on 
balance these benefits are not considered to outweigh the harm identified to the setting of 
the listed buildings and conservation areas identified above.   

6.43 The proposal would generally be of a modern design and this in itself would not be 
overbearing, and would complement other permissions granted in the Town Centre e.g. The 
Charter and 1-2 King Street. This has been achieved through incorporating traditional 
features found within the local area and interpreting them in a simplified modern manner, 
rather than trying to imitate existing developments within the Town Centre. 

Appearance of proposed building fronting Brewhouse Yard

Page 87



6.44 Whilst the façade of the existing building fronting King Street is largely retained, this building 
will be finished using powder coated metal finishes, red brick and render, as illustrated in the 
following image.

Appearance of proposed building fronting King Street

6.45 Concerns have been raised by the Council’s Conservation Architect, that the design and 
materials being proposed are unacceptable. Taking this into account whilst no objections are 
raised regarding the Kind Street building, the proposed building fronting Brewhouse Yard is 
considered to have adverse impacts on the surrounding listed building, conservation areas 
and strategic views, as well as the Borough’s townscape due to its bulk and massing, which 
results in an overbearing building which is not sympathetic or reflective of its location with 
Gravesend Town Centre. If Members were minded to approve these proposals, whilst the 
materials used could be subject of a suitably worded condition, the main design elements 
would not be. 

Sustainability 

6.46 Policy CS01 (LPCS) requires the Council to take a positive approach that reflects the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained with the Core Strategy and 
the NPPF (2021).  Policy CS02 (LPCS) requires development to prioritise the 
redevelopment and recycling of underused, derelict and previously developed land in 
the urban area. This application site meets all of these definitions.  Policy CS18 (LPCS) 
sets out that new development should aim to reduce the overall carbon footprint of a 
development.  Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires (where relevant) that new development will 
provide carbon reduction and provision for low carbon and renewable imagery, 
minimising energy consumption and water use.

6.47 At a national level the NPPF (2021) states in paragraph 8 that achieving sustainable 
development is by means of economic, social and environmental objectives.  This 
includes through helping to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy and 
by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure; to support strong, vibrant 
and healthy communities and by fostering a well-designed and safe environment and to 
contribute to protecting and enhancing the natural, built and historic environment 
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural 

Page 88



resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution and mitigating and adapting to 
climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy.  

6.48 Paragraph 105 of the NPPF (2021) states the planning system should actively manage 
patterns of growth in support of these objectives. Significant development should be 
focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to 
travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. This can help to reduce 
congestion and emissions, and improve air quality and public health. However, 
opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and 
rural areas, and this should be taken into account in both plan-making and decision-
making.

6.49 Gravesham Borough Council recognises the importance of sustainability and on 25 
June 2019 at its full Council meeting declared a climate emergency and this includes 
the target to make the borough Carbon Neutral by 2030. 

6.50 An Energy and Sustainability Statement has been submitted with the application.  This sets 
out a number of sustainable design and construction methods are proposed including:

 High levels of insulation, glazing, thermal bridging and good levels of air tightness to 
improve the building’s fabric efficiency;

 Dwellings will be supplied with an EU Energy Efficiency Labelling Scheme Leaflet to help 
tenants choose energy efficient white goods or where they have been fitted out;

 Energy efficient lighting installed throughout;
 A feasibility study carried out for the proposed development has surpassed Part L Building 

Regulations due to highly efficient shell;
 Cycle storage (15) to reduce car journeys;
 Water efficient fittings installed witing the flats to limit to below 125 litres per person per 

day;
 Building Materials will achieve between an A+ to C rating on the BRE Green Guide scale;
 All timber used during site preparation and construction to be FSC and all non-timber 

materials to be certified with Environmental Management Systems;
 Internal storage for recyclable waste;
 Aim to specify insulation materials that have a low Global Warming Potential (GWP);
 Space heating and hot water requirements are to be met through high efficiency ASHP 

which eliminates NOx emissions;
 Dwellings have been designed to maximise daylight;
 Sound insulation to comply or exceed current Building Regulations Part E standards;
 Landscaped areas to reduce surface water runoff 
 Use of mechanical ventilation heat recovery (MVHR) and Air source heat pumps in the 

commercial unit;
 Monitoring equipment in order that occupiers can monitor their energy use;
 It is concluded that the residential element would have cumulative CO2 savings of 54.4% 

for the non-domestic part it would be 50.8% and for the site overall it would be 54.2%.    

6.51 It is considered that there are a large number of various design and construction methods 
in this proposal.

Broadband provision 

6.52 Section 10 of the NPPF (2021) acknowledges that reliable high quality communications 
are essential for economic growth including full fibre connections and new development 
shall look to provide full fibre connections.

Page 89



6.53 In order to ensure this occurs a planning condition, should permission be forthcoming, 
could be included requiring details of how fibre to the premises will be provided to serve 
the development and be available at first occupation. This will be vital to both the 
commercial and residential elevations

6.54 In summary the proposed development is considered to be sustainable form of 
development that is designed to minimise the impact on climate. As such there is no 
conflict with Policies CS01, CS02, CS18 and CS19 (LPCS) and section 2 of the NPPF 
(2021).

Amenity of Future Occupiers

6.55 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires that all development should be ‘fit for purpose’ and be 
‘adaptable to allow changes to meet the need of users’ and that ‘the design and layout of 
new residential development, including conversion, will accord with the adopted 
Residential Layout Guidelines’.  On 25 March 2015, the Government issued a written 
ministerial statement which introduced new technical housing standards in England.

6.56 In the building fronting King Street there would be six flats which would occupy the first, 
second and third floor levels and would cover all of the floor area of the building; there 
would be two flats per floor.  

6.57 In the new building proposed at the rear this would provide 47 flats which would be at 
ground, first, second, third, fourth, fifth, sixth, seventh and eighth floor levels. There would 
be only two flats at ground floor level with the remainder of the building consisting of refuse 
and cycle stores.  At first, second, third, fourth and fifth floor levels the flats would occupy 
all of the floor area of the building.  Due to the stepping in of the building from the sixth 
floor up the floor area of the flats would be reduced respectively as each floor level 
increases.  There would be a mixture of single and dual aspect dwellings. 

North rear elevation of King Street facing building and south rear elevation of Brewhouse yard 
facing building

6.58 The rear elevation of the building fronting King Street would have glazing across its rear 
elevation at first, second and third floors serving bedrooms and combined living, dining and 
kitchens, plus balconies at each level.  The proposed new building fronting Brewhouse 
Yard would have a number of windows in its rear elevation serving bedrooms and 
combined living, dining and kitchens plus balconies.  At its nearest point the distance 
between the rear elevations would be 18.7m, and to the balconies would be 15.2m.  This is 
under the 21m minimum required as set out in SPG2 for facing habitable room windows.  
As well as direct overlooking between the first, second and third floors of both buildings, 
the new building fronting Brewhouse Yard is 6-9 storeys so the top four storeys of that 
building would also look down upon the of rear of the King Street building which would lead 
to overlooking and be overbearing.  

5.59 There are a number of other windows in the rear of a number of King Street buildings at 
first floor level and above and occupying residential use.  The distance between the 
nearest of these to the opposite windows in the new building fronting Brewhouse Yard 
would be approx. 19m at its minimum therefore denoting overlooking. 

East flank elevation

6.60 There are windows serving bedrooms and combined living, dining and kitchens at the 
southern part at first to third floor levels, from fourth floor to fifth floor level they extend 

Page 90



across the whole of the east flank, at sixth floor level up the building is stepped away.  
There are windows in the rear of the buildings in Queen Street in residential use, the 
nearest of which would be 17.5m away.  There are also windows in the south flank of 15-
17 Queen Street serving bedrooms, these would be 1-16m away from the windows in the 
new building.  As the privacy distances are under the 21m, it is considered that the 
occupiers of the flats with the windows at first, second and third floor levels would 
experience overlooking.  

West flank elevation 

6.61 There are a number of windows in the west flank elevation across the whole of the flank 
from first to seventh floor levels, with glazed panels at eighth floor level serving bedrooms 
and living, dining and kitchens.  There are a number of properties in the High Street with 
windows in their rear elevations serving residential use.  At 1-2 King Street immediately to 
west of the application site there is a residential conversion of the upper floors to flats and 
two new storeys being added under permission 20191051 and which is being constructed.  
This would have a number of residential use windows including habitable room windows 
such as bedrooms and kitchen, dining and living rooms in its east elevation. The distance 
between the windows at first, second floor levels would be some 15m and to the third and 
fourth which is slightly back, some 17m.  As this is under the 21m it is considered 
overlooking would occur.  

North front elevation

6.62 The two flats at ground floor would be single aspect only (north facing) and would have its 
habitable room windows of bedrooms and living/dining/kitchens facing onto the Brewhouse 
Yard which would lead to reduced privacy with potential passers by. There would be a 
number of windows from first floor up.  The building opposite at nos. 5-9 Brewhouse Yard 
is in commercial use.  Due to the angle of the buildings to the west in the High Street and 
the distance between the rear of nearest residential windows to the north windows of the 
new building (some 47m) it is considered there would be no overlooking.  

6.63 In terms of sunlight and daylight of habitable rooms and overshadowing of the external 
amenity space, a “Proposed Scheme Daylight, Sunlight & Overshadowing” report has been 
submitted which assesses the daylight and sunlight which would be received by the 
habitable spaces of the proposed development and finds that all habitable rooms would 
achieve good levels of daylight and sunlight and that the external amenity space would be 
adequately lit.  The BRE Guidelines have been used which measures the average daylight 
factor calculation (ADF) which a measure of internal daylight indicating the ratio of inside 
illuminance to the outside illuminance expressed as a percentage; this is 1% for bedrooms, 
1.5% for living rooms and 2% for kitchens.  

6.64 For the daylight assessment, the report identifies that 13 of the proposed residential units 
in the development are considered to be the worst-case dwellings in terms of access to 
natural light (these are the two flats at first floor and the two flats at second floor of the 
building fronting King Street and the two flats at ground floor and all of the flats at first floor 
of the proposed new building).  All habitable rooms in these dwellings were tested which is 
a total of 29 rooms comprising 13 kitchen/living/dining areas and 16 bedrooms.  The study 
found that:

 7 of the 13  kitchen, living, dining rooms assessed are expected to achieve and surpass 
the Average Daylight Factor (ADF) of 2%;

 The remaining 5 were only marginally below the BRE recommendations but were found to 
achieve the ADF target of 1.5% for living rooms which is considered to be acceptable for 
spaces where this will be the primary use;

 All 16 bedrooms assessed, surpassed the ADF target of 1%;

Page 91



 The proposed development would achieve good levels of daylighting to all dwellings and 
habitable spaces and is considered to provide a good quality of accommodation to the 
future occupants in terms of daylight.

6.65 For the sunlight assessment, the report identifies that a sunlight access assessment has 
been carried out for south facing living rooms of the proposed development as well as all 
13 dwellings located across the ground, first and second floors of the development 
considered to be the worst case units in terms of sunlight access across the scheme as 
above.  A total of six living spaces with at least one main window facing within 90° of due 
south each were assessed for solar access.  The assessment found that all spaces meet 
the required Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) and Winter Probable Sunlight Hours 
(WPSH) criteria and would receive adequate levels of sunlight. 

6.66 With regards to the overshadowing assessment, a solar access analysis was undertaken 
for the amenity space for the external amenity space for the development for the full 24 
hours on 21 March as set out in the BRE guidance.  The report predicts that the amenity 
space will achieve a minimum of 2 hours of sunlight on 21 March over at least 50% of its 
area and the open space is concluded to be adequately sunlit.  

6.67 In respect of the amenity of future occupiers the proposed development by virtue of its 
siting, design and proximity to neighbouring buildings is considered to be harmful to the 
amenity and privacy of future occupiers with regards overlooking, overbearing and lack of 
privacy.  As such this proposal is considered contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham 
Local Pan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

Air Quality

6.68 Air quality constitutes a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications (as set out in paragraph 005 (air quality) of the planning practice guidance) 
and this is reflected in Policy CS19 (LPCS) which requires new development to avoid 
adverse environmental impacts which include air quality. This is reflected within the 
NPPF (2021) at paragraph 186 which states decisions should sustain and contribute 
towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking 
into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones, and 
the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas.

6.69 The application site is not within an air quality management area.  At pre-application 
stage Regulatory Services advised they were concerned that as buses go past the 
development site and stop and run their engines whilst stationary then there is a real 
likelihood of the fume and odour entering the residential units (those fronting King 
Street) and would therefore want a suitable air handling system provided to prevent that 
happening.  The applicant has submitted an Air Quality Mitigation Statement which finds 
dust emissions and lists a number of mitigation measures for the construction and 
operation phase including soft stripping and water suppression to damp down dust and 
gas fired boiler minimum standards and welcome packs for residents.  No details of an 
air handling system for the King Street fronting flats has been submitted.  However, 
given the site is not within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) it is considered this 
cannot be enforced and there are some mitigation measures proposed.

Noise

6.70 Due to the town centre location and proximity to existing noise sources, (e.g. licenced 
premises, buses, early morning deliveries, plant/machinery/equipment associated with 
existing commercial uses, people noise during the day, evening and night associated 

Page 92



with all of these uses), it is important that any residential units are designed and 
constructed to provide a high quality acoustic living environment

6.71 The application is accompanied by a Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment Report 
which recommends that a robust glazing specification would provide acceptable internal 
noise levels for all residential environments of the development, that no further 
mitigation would be required and that vibration levels would also be acceptable.  As 
such it is considered if permission were to be forthcoming, the proposed development 
could be designed and constructed in such a way that it meets the relevant internal 
noise limits, taking into account existing environmental noise.

Room Sizes

6.72 The table below provides a breakdown of the room sizes of each unit and whether there 
is any private amenity space; 

Ground 
Floor

Actual 
Floor 
Area

National 
Standard

Double 
Bedroom

Double 
Bedroom

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner

W/C 
Ensuite(s)

Amenity 
space

1b2p 58m² 50m² 13.72 m² N/A 28 m² w/c 4.95m² N/A
1b2p 52.61m² 50m² 11.71 m² N/A 27.33m² w/c 4.95m² N/A

1st Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area

National 
Standard

Double 
Bedroom

Double 
Bedroom

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner

W/C 
Ensuite(s)

Amenity 
space

2b4p 73.04m² 70m² 11.33m² 12.7m² 29m² w/c 4.56m²
ensuite 2.29m²

3.58m²

2b4p 75.63m² 70m² 13.52m² 10.64m² 29.46m² w/c 4.14m²
ensuite 3.57m²

N/A

2b4p 75.18m² 70m² 13.52m² 12.54m² 28.11m² w/c 4.4m²
ensuite 3.64m²

2.68m²

2b4p 70.43m² 70m² 12.38m² 11.8m² 27.64m² w/c 4.98 m²
Ensuite 3.61m²

2.73m²

1b2p 54.76m² 50m² 11.62m² N/A 29.68m² w/c 5m² 2.73m²
1b2p 52.33m² 50m² 11.22m² N/A 27.57m² 4.76m² 2.85m²
2b4p 75.47m² 70m² 15.67m² 11.64m² 26.1m² 4.65m²

Ensuite 3.75m²
2.75m²

1b2p 55.26m² 50m² 11.49m² N/A 29.09m² w/c 4.77m² 4.53m²
1b2p 61.87m² 50m² N/A N/A 46.62m²  

(studio) 
w/c 4.8m² 1.58m²

2nd Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area

National 
Standard

Double 
Bedroom

Double 
Bedroom

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner

W/C 
Ensuite(s)

Amenity 
space

2b4p 73.04m² 70m² 11.33m² 12.7m² 29m² w/c 4.56m²
Ensuite 2.29m²

3.58m²

2b4p 75.63m² 70m² 13.52m² 10.64m² 29.46m² w/c 4.14m²
Ensuite 3.57m²

2.64m²

2b4p 75.18m² 70m² 13.52m² 12.54m² 28.11m² w/c 4.4 m²
Ensuite 3.64m²

2.68m²

2b4p 70.43m² 70m² 12.38m² 11.8m² 27.64m² w/c 4.98 m²
Ensuite 3.61m²

2.73m²

1b2p 54.76m² 50m² 11.62m² N/A 29.68m² w/c 5m² 2.73m²
1b2p 52.33m² 50m² 11.22m² N/A 27.57m² w/c 4.76m² 2.85m²
2b4p 75.47m² 70m² 15.67m² 11.64m² 26.1m² w/c 4.65m²

Ensuite 3.75m²
2.75m²

1b2p 55.26m² 50m² 11.49m² N/A 29.09m² 4.77 m² 4.43m²
1b2p 61.87m² 50m² N/A N/A 46.62m² 

(studio)
4.8 m² N/A

Page 93



3rd Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area

National 
Standard

Double 
Bedroom

Double 
Bedroom

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner

W/C 
Ensuite(s)

Amenity 
space

2b4p 73.04 m² 70m² 11.33 m² 12.7 m² 29 m² w/c 4.56 m²
Ensuite 29m²

3.58 m²

2b4p 75.63 m² 70m² 13.52 m² 10.64 m² 29.46 m² w/c 4.14 m²
Ensuite 3.57m²

2.64 m²

2b4p 75.18 m² 70m² 13.52 m² 12.54 m² 28.11 m² w/c 4.4 m²
Ensuite 3.64m²

2.68 m²

2b4p 70.43 m² 70m² 12.38 m² 11.8 m² 27.64 m² w/c 4.98 m²
Ensuite 3.61m²

2.73 m²

1b2p 54.76 m² 50m² 11.62 m² N/A 29.68 m² Bathroom 5 m² 2.73 m²
1b2p 52.33 m² 50m² 11.22 m² N/A 27.57 m² w/c 4.76 m² 2.85 m²
2b4p 75.47 m² 70m² 15.67 m² 11.64 m² 26.1 m² w/c 4.65 m²

Ensuite3.75m²
2.75 m²

1b2p 55.26 m² 50m² 11.49 m² N/A 29.09 m² w/c 4.77 m² 4.27 m²
1b2p 63.71 m² 50m² 11.47 m² N/A 30.15 m² w/c 3.73 m² N/A

4th Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area

National 
Standard

Double 
Bedroom

Double 
Bedroom

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner

W/C 
Ensuite(s)

Amenity 
space

2b4p 79.13 m² 70m² 14.27 m² 13.07 m² 33.69 m² w/c 4.24 m²
Ensuite 3.17m²

2.64 m²

1b2p 53.4 m² 50m² 13.39 m² 30.93 m² w/c 4.45 m² 5.57 m²
2b4p 70.38 m² 70m² 13.67 m² 11.69 m² 27.1 m² w/c 5.05 m²

Ensuite 4.23m²
2.68 m²

2b4p 70.68 m² 70m² 13.25 m² 11.47 m² 27.32 m² w/c 5.22 m²
Ensuite 3.2 m²

  4.38 m²

1b2p 57.3 m² 50m² 11.81 m² N/A 31.37 m² w/c 4.67 m² 7.78 m²
1b2p 58.58 m² 50m² 11.68 m² N/A 33.15 m² w/c 5.06 m² 2.74 m²
2b4p 70.48 m² 70m² 11.15 m² 11.61 m² 25.77 m² w/c 4.84 m²

Ensuite 3.41m²
2.72 m²

5th Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area

National 
Standard

Double 
Bedroom

Double 
Bedroom

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner

W/C 
Ensuite(s)

Amenity 
space

2b4p 69.31 m² 70m² 14.81 m² 11.89 m² 26.92 m² w/c 5.23 m²
Ensuite 3.1 m²

3.73 m²
3.87 m²

1b2p 52.42 m² 50m² 12.7 m² N/A 30.89 m² w/c 4.27 m² N/A
2b4p 70.33 m² 70m² 13.42 m² 11.55 m² 26.76 m² w/c 4.82 m²

Ensuite 4.05m²
2.63 m²

2b4p 70.45 m² 70m² 12.79 m² 11.23 m² 27.42 m² w/c4.88 m²
Ensuite 3.7 m²

 2.49m²

1b2p 57.66 m² 50m² 11.63 m² N/A 31.55 m² w/c 5.17m² 2.52 m²
1b2p 58.74 m² 50m² 11.62 m² N/A 32.79 m² w/c 4.93m² 2.67 m²
2b4p 70.37 m² 70m² 11.7 m² 11 m² 25.97 m² w/c 4.88m²

Ensuite 3.53m²
2.66 m²

6th Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area

National 
Standard

Double 
Bedroom

Double 
Bedroom

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner

W/C 
Ensuite(s)

Amenity 
space

2b4p 70.11 m² 70m² 13.65 m² 11.74 m² 27.91 m² w/c 5.3 m²
Ensuite 3.19m²

3.54 m²
2.61 m²

1b2p 52.3 m² 50m² 12.54 m² N/A 30.41 m² w/c 4.3 m² 2.7 m²
2bp4 70.95 m² 70m² 11.27 m² 13.87 m² 26.61 m² w/c 4.79 m²

Ensuite 3.67m²
2.78 m²

1b2p 55.17 m² 50m² 11.7 m² N/A 30.68 m² w/c 4.91m² N/A
2b4p 78.97 m² 70m² 13.66 m² 11.78  m² 30.02 m² w/c 4.77m²

Ensuite 3.74m²
62.21 m²

Page 94



7th Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area

National 
Standard

Double 
Bedroom

Double 
Bedroom

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner

W/C 
Ensuite(s)

Amenity 
space

2b4p 72.01 m² 70m² 11.57 m² 12.51 m² 26.63 m² w/c 4.49 m²
Ensuite 4.76m²

16.87 m²

2b4p 70.25 m² 70m² 11.39 m² 11.53 m² 28.01 m² w/c 4.88m²
Ensuite 3.91m²

17.6 m²

8th Floor Actual 
Floor 
Area

National 
Standard

Double 
Bedroom

Double 
Bedroom

Living/Kitchen/ 
diner

W/C 
Ensuite(s)

Amenity 
space

2b4p 
Duplex

77.29 m² 79m² 19.18 m² 12.57 m² 24.02 m² w/c 2.08 m²
Ensuite 3.87m²
Ensuite 4.42m²

20.07 m²

2b4p 
Duplex

77.63 m² 79m² 18.89 m² 12.99 m² 24.34 m² w/c 2.35 m²
Ensuite 3.93m²
Ensuite 3.73m²

23.92 m²

2b4p 
Duplex

77.7 m² 79m² 19.07 m² 12.44 m² 24.28 m² w/c 2.28 m²
Ensuite 3.85m²
Ensuite 4.4 m²

20.7m

6.73 Broadly the scheme meets the Government’s Nationally Described Space Standards as 
set out in the table above, however a flat on the fifth floor is identified as falling 
marginally below the standard. In terms of amenity space, flats served by the private 
amenity spaces available on the upper floors perform well. However, below the 6th floor, 
the development fails to provide sufficient private amenity spaces for future occupiers, 
as required within the Council’s adopted Residential Layout Guidelines. 

6.74 In summary it is considered that whilst air quality and noise may be able to be sufficiently 
mitigated, future occupiers the proposed development would experience overlooking, 
overbearing and lack of privacy.  As such this proposal is considered contrary to Policy 
CS19 (LPCS).

Neighbouring Amenity

6.75 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to safeguard the amenity, including 
privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants and those of neighbouring properties and 
land and paragraph 130 of the NPPF (2021) requires development to have a high standard 
of amenity for existing users (in this case surrounding properties).

6.76 It needs to be considered whether the building facing onto King Street, due to the additional 
storey and the new 6-9 storey building proposed at the rear facing onto Brewhouse Yard 
would impact on the amenity of surrounding properties.  

6.77 Whilst in most cases an inevitable consequence of redeveloping a town centre location will 
have a detrimental impact upon some nearby residents, it is necessary to be able to 
ascertain the level of harm to resolve whether the merits of redevelopment outweigh the 
harm that may be caused.

6.78 A Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing Report has been submitted with the application 
which indicates there will not be a significant impact on surrounding properties arising from 
the proposed development.  In terms of daylight assessment, 227 windows from buildings 
surrounding the site were identified as being in close proximity to, and facing, the proposed 
development. Out of these 31 passed the 25° line test, 108 achieved a Vertical Sky 

Page 95



Component (VSC) greater than 27%, 50 achieved relative VSC’s over 0.8 of their former 
values and 32 were attached to non-domestic areas.  The report advises that the 27% VSC 
target could be lowered in this case given the heights of the neighbouring buildings (more 
than two storeys) and that the existing site is undeveloped so surrounding occupiers would 
essentially have fullest light levels currently.  The report advises that there would be no 
significant impact on the daylight received by neighbouring properties.

6.79 In terms of sunlight a total of 72 windows were assessed, 4 of them passed the 25 degree 
line test, 50 satisfied the BRE criteria for Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) and 
Winter Probable Sunlight Hours (WPSH), 12 were non-domestic spaces and 6 would 
achieve either the APSH or the WPSH.  It is advised I in the report that the proposed 
development would not have a significant impact on sunlight access to windows of 
surrounding properties.  Also that there are no amenity spaces that would be 
overshadowed.  

Buildings to the south in King Street

6.80 The new storey on top of the building (third floor level) would be fully glazed across its front 
elevation and with a bedroom and living room, dining room and kitchen which would look 
out onto commercial buildings opposite, 26 King Street opposite is single storey and has no 
residential above.  There are flats on the upper floors of several of the buildings on the 
southern side of King Street.  The proposed flat windows at first, second or third floor levels 
in the front of the King Street facing building are not considered to cause any direct window 
to window overlooking as there are no windows of surrounding buildings that are directly in 
the field of view.  The proposed 6-9 storey building is set back in the site but given the 
height of the building and the large amount of window within its south elevation s it is 
considered occupiers of the flats on the upper floors of the buildings on the south side of 
King Street would experience an overbearing presence and a perceived level of 
overlooking.

Buildings to the east in Queen Street

6.81 There are windows in the rear of several of the buildings in Queen Street bordering the site 
and which are in residential use, the nearest of which would be 17.5m away.  There are 
also windows in the south flank of 15-17 Queen Street serving bedrooms, these would be 
1-16m away from the windows in the new building.   In the east elevation of the 6-9 storey 
new building fronting Brewhouse yard there are large number of windows serving 
bedrooms and combined living, dining and kitchens at the southern part at first to third floor 
levels, from fourth floor to fifth floor level they extend across the whole of the east flank, at 
sixth floor level up the building is stepped away.  As the privacy distances are under the 
21m, it is considered that the occupiers of the windows in the rear of the Queen Street 
properties would experience an overbearing presence and overlooking.

Buildings to the north

6.82 The building opposite at nos. 5-9 Brewhouse Yard is in commercial use. Beyond this is the 
rear yard area of 19-21 Queen Street, no. 23 Queen Street (a nightclub) and Gravesend 
Borough Market beyond that.  There is no residential use within 21m to the north of the 
proposed new building.  Due to the angle of the buildings to the north-west in the High 
Street and their respective windows and the distance between the rear of those nearest 
residential windows to the north windows of the new building (some 47m) it is considered 
there would be no overlooking to the windows in the rear of the properties in the High 
Street to the north-west.  There are flats in the upper floors of buildings at no. 1-4 
Brewhouse Yard which is to the north east and it is considered that given their close 
proximity to the proposed development and its height combined with the large amount of 

Page 96



windows in the north elevation of the proposed building, these flats would experience a 
degree of overbearing and perceived overlooking.

Buildings to the west
   
6.83 No. 1-2 King Street borders the site to the west.  This is in the process of being converted 

to residential use on its upper floors and two new storeys being added.  This development 
would have a number of residential use windows including habitable room windows such 
as bedrooms and kitchen, dining and living rooms in its east elevation.  There are a 
number of windows in the west flank elevation of the proposed new building fronting 
Brewhouse Yard across the whole of the flank from first to seventh floor levels, with glazed 
panels at eighth floor level serving bedrooms and living, dining and kitchens.  The distance 
between the windows at first, second floor levels would be some 15m and to the third and 
fourth which is slightly back, some 17m.  As this is under the 21m it is considered 
overlooking would occur.  Furthermore the additional storeys from fourth floor level up over 
and above the height of 1-2 King Street with all the windows in those floors would lead to 
occupiers of 1-2 King experiencing overbearing and perceived overlooking.   

6.84 In respect of neighbouring amenity it is therefore considered that the proposed 
development by virtue of its size, siting and design would impact on the amenity and 
privacy of a number of neighbouring properties with regards being overbearing and 
overlooking.  As such this proposal is considered contrary to Policy CS19 (LPCS).

Open Space

6.85 As many of the dwellings proposed could be occupied by families, significant weight is 
attached to the need to provide open space to meet the needs of future residents as 
required through Policy CS13 (LPCS) and Saved Policy LT6 (LPTR). At a national level the 
NPPF (2021) recognises that access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for 
sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and well-being of 
communities.

6.86 The Council’s adopted Residential Layout Guidelines, seeks self-contained units (not 
necessarily communal) which have two or more bedrooms and are capable of providing 
family accommodation, to provide an area of amenity space in excess of 10 sq. metres. 
Such amenity space should be of a sufficient size to accommodate the following activities:

 children’s play space;
 drying area;
 limited outside storage;
 sitting out;
 general leisure use.

6.87 The specific amenity space available for each flat is outlined in the table above (see 6/73-
6.73). 

6.88  There is a small external amenity space provided between the two buildings and private 
amenity space provided at the top three floors linked, with access provided from within the 
flats adjacent to this amenity space.  Whilst a number of flats would also have balconies, 
the development would not meet the Council’s adopted Residential Layout Guidelines.  The 
location and size of the development proposed limits the amenity space that can been 
provided on site.

6.89 A short walk to the north via Queen Street, potential future occupiers would have access 
to the public amenity space of St. Andrews’ Gardens. Although it should be noted that 

Page 97



these areas would also provide amenity space for future occupiers of other new 
developments inc The Charter, Town Centre users and existing residents.

6.90 It needs to be considered whether the building facing onto King Street, due to the 
additional storey and the new 6-9 storey building proposed at the rear facing onto 
Brewhouse Yard would impact on the amenity of surrounding properties.  

6.91 In summary, taking into account the development’s location within Gravesend Town 
Centre and the need and deficiencies on the ground and the physical constraints on site 
the development, there would be a need to make a financial contribution towards 
upgrading and improving existing open spaces and leisure provisions.  Should permission 
be forthcoming a contribution could be agreed and secured through a section 106 
agreement.

Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 

6.92 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to incorporate facilities for the storage and 
recycling of waste generated.

6.93 A refuse store is proposed to the rear of the two flats at ground floor level of the new 
building fronting Brewhouse Yard which will hold 7 no. waste (1100 litre) bins, 7 no. 
recycling (1100 litre) bins and 1 no. food waste bin (1100 litre) bin.  It is stated that a 
management company will take the bins to the front of the site at Brewhouse yard on 
collection day where refuse collections already take place from. The refuse and servicing 
for the commercial unit will take place from King Street.  

6.94 However, the location of the bin store is not supported by the Council’s Waste 
Management Service as it is located at the farthest point from the public highway and there 
is no access for the Council’s Bin Lorries. This would need to be overcome by for example 
a management company taking responsibility for placing bins nearer to the public highway 
on collection day for emptying, before returning them to the bin store. In addition the food 
waste bins would need to be 140 litres bins and not 1100 litres. There would also be a 
requirement for 5 no. 23 litre food wheelie bins. In addition to this, separate bin storage 
would also need to be provided for the commercial elements of the proposals. 

6.95 Subject to the above changes, being secured it is considered that in respect of refuse the 
proposal is compliant with Policy CS19 (LPCS).

Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking

6.96 The proposed development needs to be considered against Policy CS11 (LPCS) which 
states that new development should mitigate their impact on the public highway and that 
transport assessments should be provided and implemented to ensure delivery of travel 
choice and sustainable opportunities for travel. Furthermore, it states that sufficient car 
parking in new developments will be provided in accordance with adopted standards which 
will reflect the availability of alternative means of transport accessibility to services and 
facilities. This is also reflected by Saved Policy T1 (LPFR) which requires proposed 
development to be adequately served by the highway network and Saved Policy P3 
(LPFR) which sets out highways parking standards for development.

6.97 At a national level the NPPF (2019) states at paragraph 105 significant development 
should be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the 
need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. The NPPF (2019) goes on 

Page 98



to state development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
cumulative impact of development is severe.

6.98 The proposed development is located within a town centre location and the development 
provides 22 no. parking spaces including four which are compliant with the Disability 
Discrimination Act.  There is a new access proposed from Brewhouse Yard to serve the 
development.  There would also be two cycle stores with space for 54 no. cycles, one 
situated on the ground floor of the building.  A Transport Statement has been submitted 
with the application which predicts that the residential part of the site will generate 5 two-
way vehicle trips in the morning peak and 6 two-way trips in the evening peak which is 
concluded to not be a significant impact on the highway network.  As the commercial unit is 
situated in the town centre and no vehicle parking is proposed, a trip generation exercise 
for the commercial use was not carried out given the low number of ‘new’ trips expected.  It 
is unclear from the submitted documents how the parking spaces are to be allocated, as 
such if Members were minded to approve the scheme, a condition would need to be added 
requiring a car parking management scheme to be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to first occupation. 

6.99 The Council’s Highways Development Management Officer has no objections to the 
number of parking spaces proposed for the development given the maximum standards set 
out in SPG4 but advises all spaces should be cabled for future installation of electric 
vehicle charging points.  Concern is raised in relation to removals and deliveries which are 
liable to be more than the cinema would have had and may have been served by King 
Street.  A loading bay is proposed within the site to accommodate delivery vehicles and a 
swept path analysis has been undertaken which demonstrates that a typical delivery van 
can safely turn around in the site to exit in forward gear.  In respect of highways and 
parking the proposal is considered compliant with Policy CS11 (LPCS) and saved Policies 
P3 and T1 (LPFR).

Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage

6.100 Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out the requirements for flooding stating that development will be 
directed sequentially to those areas least at risk of flooding.  In this case the site is located 
in Flood Zone 1 and as such is at a low risk of flooding.  A Flood Risk Assessment and 
SUDS Strategy has been submitted with the application concludes the site is at low risk of 
flooding from tidal, fluvial, groundwater and reservoir flooding.  

6.101 Surface water flooding is found to be ‘very low’ to ‘medium’ risk but the report advises that 
once the development is completed, the site will be graded which will result in no low lying 
areas and will prevent surface water from pooling.  It is recommended that the development 
sets finished floor levels (FFL) or threshold levels, 75-100mm above the surrounding 
ground level to reduce the risk of any surface water or other flood exceedance events 
which could enter the development and therefore the risk of surface water flooding would 
be low in line with CIRIA’s Designing the Exceedance in Urban Drainage.  

6.102 In respect of sustainable urban drainage and surface water run-off, Policy CS18 (LPCS) 
states that the Council will seek to minimise the impact of drainage from new development 
on waste water systems.  It will require that surface water run-off from all new development 
has, as a minimum, no greater adverse impact than the existing use and require the use of 
Sustainable Urban Drainage on all developments where technically and financially feasible.  
A Sustainable Urban Drainage Scheme is proposed which includes use of green roofs, 
porous asphalt/permeable block paving, all surface water drainage from the roof areas and 
roadway will be collected and conveyed into the proposed underground geocellular 
attenuation storage unit or an alternative proposal if this is not feasible.  Overall it is 
concluded in the report that the proposal would result in a net benefit to flooding and 

Page 99



drainage by reducing the rates and volume of run-off from the site and therefore the risk of 
flooding elsewhere.   

6.103 Southern Water have advised that the building would be built over an existing public foul 
sewer which would not be acceptable to them and that it may be possible to divert the 
sewer so long as this would result in no unacceptable loss of hydraulic capacity and the 
work carried out to the developer’s expense to the satisfaction of Southern Water.  Should 
the development be considered acceptable it may be the proposal would need to be 
redesigned or re-sited to address the matter of the public foul sewer.  A contaminated land 
assessment and associated remedial strategy could be conditioned should permission be 
forthcoming.   

Contaminated Land

6.104 Policy CS19 (LPCS) and Paragraph 174 of the NPPF (2019) requires new development to 
avoid adverse environmental impacts of land contamination and remediating contaminated 
land. A Phase 1 Desk Study has been submitted with the application.  This identifies there 
is the potential for contamination to be present on site which could lead to risks to identified 
receptors and a Phase 2 Study is recommended.  Subject to condition there would be no 
conflict with Policy CS19 (LPCS) or Paragraph 174 of the NPPF (2019) in terms of land 
contamination issues.

Ecology and Biodiversity

6.105 The application site falls within 6km of the Thames Estuary and Marshes Special 
Protection Area (SPA) classified in accordance with the European Birds Directive which 
requires Member States to classify sites that are important for bird species listed on Annex 
1 of the European Directive, which are rare and/or vulnerable in a European context, and 
also sites that form a critically important network for birds on migration.  It is also listed as a 
Wetland of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention (Ramsar Site).  Studies 
have shown marked declines in key bird species, particularly in areas that are busiest with 
recreational activity.  Research conducted in 2011 found that additional dwellings were 
likely to result in additional recreational activity, causing disturbance to protected bird 
species that over-winter or breed on the SPA and Ramsar Site.  The studies found that 
75% of recreational visitors to the North Kent coast originate from within 6 km of the SPA 
boundary and Ramsar Site.  The impacts of recreational disturbance can be such that they 
affect the status and distribution of key bird species and therefore act against the stated 
conservation objectives of the European Sites.  

6.106 The Borough Council has mitigated out the impacts of this on each and every planning 
application for a new residential development of one or more units within the 6km zone 
since September 2015 by accepting a Strategic Access Mitigation and Monitoring Strategy 
(SAMMS) (tariff) payment (currently £253.83 per dwelling).  This approach is approved by 
Natural England for all new residential developments.

6.106 For every planning application for a new dwelling (including new flats) which does not 
require any other contributions to be secured through a s106 legal agreement or unilateral 
undertaking the tariff has been secured through a contribution agreement.

6.108 The tariff has been accepted effectively in lieu of an Appropriate Assessment (AA) under 
the Habitat Regulations and thus avoiding the need to progress into a full AA.

6.109 However a more recent Court of Justice European Union (CJEU) ruling means that this 
approach is now no longer valid and although the mitigation measures (in the form of a 
tariff payment) will still need to be made the first stage will be a screening assessment as 

Page 100



to whether the development either alone or in combination, is likely to have significant 
effects on a designated site without mitigation.  The CJEU sees a distinction between “the 
plan or project” itself and “measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of a 
plan or project on a European site”. This means that mitigation measures, which are 
intended to avoid or reduce effects, should be assessed within the framework of an AA and 
cannot be taken into account at the screening stage.  

6.110 In this case there are other contributions which have been requested by KCC and so 
should permission be forthcoming the tariff could be included with a s.106 agreement (the 
required tariff would be £253.83 x 53 = £13,452.99 for the net additional increase of 53 
flats).  

6.111 Therefore, subject to this the proposal would be compliant with Paragraphs 180 and 181 of 
the NPPF 2021 and Policy CS12 of the Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

Commercial Element

6.112 The proposed development at the ground floor of the frontage building is a work hub facility 
which is said to be an innovative response to the Covid-19 pandemic, given this has 
enforced a focus on flexible working patterns.  It is stated that being mindful that most 
occupants of flatted developments have to work from home in the living room or spare 
bedroom, the applicant’s concept provides a communal workspace at ground floor level.  
The existing authorised use as a cinema (albeit the remains is a fire damaged building) is 
sui generis (previously D2(a)).  Policy CS08 (LPCS) which defines the primary shopping 
area within Gravesend town centre. As this development is inside the defined primary retail 
area, it has to be considered to be a location where retail development will be supported.  
The building fronting King Street is a secondary shopping frontage, which is subject to 
Policy S4 (LPFR) which states that in those shopping frontages, the Council will allow 
changes of use to uses which are appropriate to the Town Centre Shopping Area and 
which require a shop window frontage.  This proposal includes a shop window and it is 
considered that given the cinema use is non-retail use there would be no net loss of retail 
with the proposed work hub facility which would offer an active frontage in the town centre 
which has been vacant for many years.  As such in respect of the commercial use the 
proposal is considered compliant with Policy CS08 (LPCS) and saved Policy S4 (LPFR).   

6.113 The proposal would benefit the town centre in terms of generating employment as outlined 
above, but also generated in increase in footfall. This is in terms residents and employees 
coming to and from the site throughout the day and night due to its central location, provide 
a positive and varied mix of footfall which supports Policy CS07 (LPCS) and Policy CS08 
(LPCS).

Planning Obligations

6.114 Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended), commonly known as s106 agreements, are a mechanism that the Council 
often use to secure financial contributions or other forms of mitigation such as 
affordable housing from developers in order to make a development proposal 
acceptable in planning terms.  

6.115 In order for the Local Planning Authority to request financial contributions on behalf of 
third parties any contributions will need to meet all of the tests relating to paragraph 56 
of the NPPF (2021) which are as follows:

(A)    necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;

Page 101



(B)    directly related to the development;

(C)    fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

Affordable Housing and viability

6.116 Policy CS16 (LPCS) states that the provision of affordable housing will be required on 
all new housing developments of 15 dwellings or more or on sites of 0.5 hectares or 
more in the urban area at 30% in the urban area.  It is stated that development will 
subject to site viability and a tenure mix necessary to meet local needs and achieve a 
successful sustainable and socially inclusive development.  

6.117 In this case no affordable housing is provided - a viability assessment was not submitted 
as part of the planning application and was provided to the Council in August 2021. The 
appraisal identifies that the proposal consists of 53 residential units with an average unit 
size of 65 sqm, with the average unit value considered to be £226,368 (£321/square 
foot). The values assumed within the viability assessment are broadly in keeping with 
values utilised for other recent viability assessments. 

6.118 Whilst the site is currently utilised for parking, the planning permission granted at appeal 
(APP/K2230/A/12/2189308) for a Pay and Display Car Park has not been implemented 
and has expired. However, should a similar scheme be granted and implemented, that 
coupled with the unit fronting King Street would give the site a value of approx. 
£560,000, which is considered to be the site’s value benchmark. This is a combination 
of the existing value of the unit fronting King Street and an alternative use value for the 
land at the rear (adjacent to Brewhouse Yard). The applicant’s viability appraisal sets 
out that the Gross Development Value of the scheme is £12,194,038 and the Total 
Costs to be £10,066,179. As such the scheme is identified as generating a development 
profit of £2,127,860. The profit as a percentage of costs is 21.14% and as a percentage 
of Gross Development Value 17.45%. As the risks associated with this scheme are less, 
when compared to schemes such as Albion Waterside, a 21% profit on costs, would 
appear excessive. With a profit ratio of 15-17.5% on cost being more realistic, however 
when taking into account the value of the site (£560,000), the scheme would generate a 
deficit or at best a very small surplus. 

6.119 Notwithstanding this there is still a policy requirement to provide affordable housing 
given the number of dwellings hereby proposed. Should development of the site be 
considered acceptable, it is considered that the viability appraisal and initial cost 
estimates be independently reviewed to ensure it is the case that no affordable housing 
can be provided and to address discrepancies within the report. For example the 
construction costs in appraisal is listed as being £10,345,617, but the initial costs 
provided to support the appraisal state £10,448,247.  

Kent County Council

6.120 A number of contributions are requested by KCC including:
 Secondary education towards the Mayfield Grammar expansion,;
 Community learning for additional resources for the Adult Education Centre “Victoria 

Centre”, Darnley Road, Gravesend
 Youth service for additional resources for Northfleet Youth Centre, Hall Road, 

Northfleet;
 Libraries towards additional services, resources and stock for new borrowers at 

Gravesend Library, Windmill Street, Gravesend;
 Social care towards Age UK Fleming Resource Centre, Clarence Row, Gravesend;

Page 102



 Waste towards new Waste Transfer Services (WTS) and capacity works to Pepper 
Hill Household Waste Recycling Centre (HWRC).

6.121 It is considered the KCC requests are deemed to be acceptable and would be 
secured through a S.106 agreement

Sports and Leisure (GBC)

6.122 A financial contribution towards upgrading and improving existing leisure provisions has 
been discussed in the open space section of this report

SAMMS contribution

6.123 The tariff required has been covered previously in this report in the section ‘Ecology and 
Biodiversity’.

6.124 It is considered that the contributions outlined above meet the statutory tests of paragraph 
56 of the NPPF (2021) that requires planning obligations to be necessary to make the 
development acceptable, directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably 
related in scale and kind to the development.

Financial Considerations

6.125 In terms of other financial benefits, it is noted that these will accrue to the area as and 
when permissions are granted. The Government wishes to ensure that the decision 
making process for planning applications is as transparent as possible, so that local 
communities are more aware of the financial benefits that development can bring to 
their area. In this instance the proposed new residential units would generate the New 
Homes Bonus and Council Tax receipts. It is anticipated that Business Rate may be 
accrued from the commercial element of this proposal. 

7. Overall Balancing Exercise and Conclusion

7.1 It is acknowledged that the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a five-year housing 
supply and as the delivery of housing is substantially below (less than 75%) that required 
by the Housing Delivery Test, the housing delivery element of Policy CS02 (LPCS) must be 
regarded to be out of date, as required by the Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF (2021). 

7.2 The proposed development for a net increase of 53 no. residential units (in this case 53 
flats) which would offer a notable contribution towards meeting the Borough’s local housing 
need and, accordingly, adds weight in support of the application. 

7.3 For decision-taking the NPPF (2021) the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
applies, this means that permission should be granted unless, the application of policies in 
the NPPF protects areas or assets of particular importance1 which provides a clear reason 
for refusing the proposal; or any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in NPPF when 
taken as a whole. 

7.4 In addition to bringing forward much needed residential development, the proposal would 
also result in the redevelopment of a vacant and underused site and improvements to the 

1 Habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 181) and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land 
designated as Green Belt, Local Green Space, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, a National Park (or within the 
Broads Authority) or defined as Heritage Coast; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and other heritage 
assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 68); and areas at risk of flooding or coastal change.

Page 103



current King Street frontage, through its repair and preservation. It would also result in a 
sustainable form of development in relation to location, and construction methods, would 
provide sufficient refuse storage subject to improving access for collections, be acceptable 
in respect of parking and highway safety, flood risk and drainage.  Subject to a review of 
the viability appraisal and appropriate conditions, the proposal would be acceptable in 
respect of contaminated land and subject to financial contributions would be acceptable in 
respect of ecology and biodiversity and obligations.  

7.5 However, notwithstanding this, a balanced approach has to be taken and it is considered 
that the adverse impacts of the development would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF (2021) and 
established local policy taken as a whole.

7.6 In this case the balance is tilted towards refusal for the following reasons:

7.7 Overall the proposal is considered to constitute an overdevelopment of the site, it would 
have an unacceptable detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the area, 
with the proposals bulk and massing not being compatible with its location and surrounding 
development. The taller Brewhouse Yard block would dominate the street scene and harm 
strategic viewpoints, as well as the setting of listed buildings and conservation areas.  The 
proposal would also be harmful to the amenity and privacy of occupiers and neighbouring 
properties.  

7.8 It is therefore harmful to the character and appearance of the site and the wider locality 
and would contravene Policies CS14, CS15, CS19 and CS20 (LPCS) which ensure new 
development will integrate well with the surrounding local area. At a national level the 
proposed development would also contravene Section 12 of the NPPF (2021) ‘achieving 
well designed places’, the NPPF states, ‘The creation of high quality, beautiful and 
sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities... Development that is not well designed should be refused, especially where 
it fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on design.’ 

As such it is recommended that planning permission is refused.  

______________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation:

The recommendation is for the application to be REFUSED Planning Permission, for the 
following reasons:

1.The proposed new six to nine storey building by virtue of its height, scale, bulk, massing and 
design would be an overly dominant form of development which would not respect the 
scale and built form of Brewhouse Yard and its immediate surroundings but on the contrary 
would completely overwhelm it appearing as an extremely overbearing addition and would 
also appear as an incongruous addition in wider townscape views at odds with the 
prominent features of Gravesend’s historic roofscape principally several church spires.  As 
such this proposal would have a harmful impact on the setting of the High Street & Queen 
Street, King Street and Harmer Street Conservation Areas and would have an adverse 
impact on the setting of the Grade II* listed St George’s Church, the grade II listed St Johns 
Church, the Grade II listed clock tower and the Methodist Church (unlisted).  The proposal 
is therefore contrary to Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 

Page 104



Strategy (2014), saved Policies TC2 and TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 
(1994) and Sections 12 and 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

2. The proposed development by virtue of its siting, design and proximity to neighbouring 
buildings is considered to be harmful to the amenity and privacy of future occupiers with 
regards overlooking, overbearing and lack of privacy.  As such this proposal is considered 
contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Pan Core Strategy (2014) and paragraph 
130(f) of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021).

3. The proposed development by virtue of its siting, design and proximity to neighbouring 
buildings would impact on the amenity and privacy of a number of neighbouring properties 
with regards being overbearing, overlooking and lack of privacy.  As such this proposal is 
considered contrary to Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Pan Core Strategy (2014) and 
paragraph 130(f) of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021).

4. The applicant has failed to provide any ecological evidence to inform a habitat regulations 
assessment covering the impact of the development on the SPA/Ramsar site or offered a 
financial contribution towards mitigation measures to address the impact of the development 
on the SPA/Ramsar site.  The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy CS12 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and paragraphs 180 and 181 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2021) which seeks to ensure that detrimental effects on the 
integrity of SPA/Ramsar sites are avoided.

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20210791 - 6 Sheppy Place, Gravesend, Kent, DA12 1BT
	5b 20211037 - 55 Rochester Road, Gravesend, Kent
	5c 20210453 - Former Cinema Site, 11 King Street, Gravesend, Kent, DA12 2EB

